Endorsing Organizations

Mental Health Liaison Group Member Organizations

American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry
American Association for Geriatric Psychiatry
American Association for Marriage and Family Therapy
American Association of Pastoral Counselors
American Counseling Association
American Group Psychotherapy Association
American Hospital Association
American Mental Health Counselors Association

American Nurses Association
American Occupational Therapy Association

American Occupational Therapy Association

American Psychiatric Association

American Psychological Association

American Psychotherapy Association

Anxiety Disorders Association of America

Association for Ambulatory Behavioral Healthcare

Bazelon Center for Mental Health Law

Child Welfare League of America

Children and Adults with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder

Clinical Social Work Association

Clinical Social Work Guild

Depression and Bipolar Support Alliance
Eating Disorders Coalition for Research, Policy & Action

Emergency Nurses Association

InnerWisdom. Inc.

Mental Health America

National Alliance on Mental Illness

National Alliance to End Homelessness

National Association for Children's Behavioral Health

National Association of Anorexia Nervosa and Associated Disorders
National Association of County Behavioral Health and Developmental Disability Directors

National Association of Mental Health Planning & Advisory Councils

National Association of Psychiatric Health Systems

National Association of School Psychologists

National Association of Social Workers

National Association of State Mental Health Program Directors National Coalition of Mental Health Professionals and Consumers, Inc.

National Council for Community Behavioral Healthcare

National Disability Rights Network

National Federation of Families for Children's Mental Health

Suicide Prevention Action Network USA

Therapeutic Communities of America

Tourette Syndrome Association

United Jewish Communities

US Psychiatric Rehabilitation Association

Volunteers of America

Witness Justice



Table of Contents

MHLG Appropriations Recommendations Cl	1art	3
CMHS Charts		4
Programs at a Glance		5
Mental Health: Crisis after Crisis		. •
Mental Health Services at SAMHSA		13
Federal Dollars Help to Finance Commun	nity-Based Care	14
Community Mental Health Services Block	k Grant	16
Comprehensive Community Mental Heal	th Services for Children and Their Families Program.	18
Projects for Assistance in Transition from	n Homelessness (PATH)	21
Protection and Advocacy for Individuals	with Mental Illness (PAIMI)	23
Programs of Regional and National Signi	fficance (PRNS)	25
Youth Violence Prevention In:	itiatives	26
Suicide Prevention for Children	en and Adolescents and Technical Assistance Centers	28
Addressing the Needs of Child	dren and Adolescents with Post Traumatic Stress	30
Mental Health Transformation	n State Incentive Grants	33
Grants to Provide Integrated	d Treatment for Co-occurring Serious Mental Illness	and
Substance Abuse Disorders		34
Jail Diversion Program Grants	S	35
Mental Health Outreach and T	reatment to the Elderly	37
Statewide Family Network Gr	ants	38
Statewide Consumer Network	Grants	40
Consumer and Consumer/Sup	porter Technical Assistance Centers	41
Community Action Grants		42
Minority Fellowship Program.		43
Mental Health Research		44
National Institute of Mental Health (NIM	(H)	45
National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA)		48
National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and	Alcoholism (NIAAA)	52
SAMHSA's Center for Substance Abuse Trea	atment (CSAT) & Center for Substance Abuse Preven	tion
(CSAP)		56
MHI C Appropriations Recommendations Cl	nart	59



Mental Health Liaison Group (MHLG) FY 2009 Appropriations Recommendations for the SAMHSA and Key NIH Institutions

(Dollars in Million)

PROGRAMS	FY 07 FINAL	FY08 FINAL	FY09 ADMIN REQUEST	FY09 MHLG REQUEST
CMHS				
CMHS TOTAL	\$883.9m	\$910.9m	\$784.3m	\$1044.8m
	(\$0.0m)	(+\$27.0m)	(-\$126.6m)	(+\$133.9m)
Community Mental Health Services	\$428.3m	\$421.0m	\$421.8m	\$482.9m
Performance Partnership Block Grant	(\$0.0m)	(-\$7.3m)	(\$0.0m)	(+\$61.9m)
Children's Mental Health Services	\$104.1m	\$102.3m	\$114.5m	\$117.3m
Program	(\$0.0m)	(-\$1.8m)	(+\$12.2m)	(+\$15.0m)
PATH Homelessness Program	\$54.3m	\$53.3m	\$59.7m	\$61.1m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$1.0m)	(+\$6.4m)	(+\$7.8m)
Protection and Advocacy (PAIMI)	\$34.0m	\$34.9m	\$34.0m	\$40.0m
	(\$0.0m)	(+\$0.9m)	(-\$0.9m)	(+\$5.1m)
Programs of Regional and National	\$263.3m	\$299.3m	\$155.3m	\$343.3m
Significance	(\$0.0m)	(+\$36.0m)	(-\$144.0m)	(+\$44.0m)
Youth Violence Prevention	\$93.3m	\$93.5m	\$75.7m	\$107.2m
	(\$0.0m)	(+\$0.2m)	(-\$17.8m)	(+\$13.7m)
Suicide Prevention	\$36.1m	\$48.6m	\$33.5m	\$55.7m
	(+\$1.4m)	(+\$12.4m)	(-\$15.1m)	(+\$7.1m)
Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	\$29.5m	\$33.1m	\$15.6m	\$38.0m
	(\$0.0m)	(+\$3.6m)	(-\$17.5m)	(+\$4.9m)
State Incentive Grant	\$26.0m	\$26.0m	\$0.0m	\$29.8m
	(\$0.0m)	(\$0.0m)	(-\$26.0m)	(+\$3.8m)
Jail Diversion Grants	\$6.93m	\$6.80m	\$3.90m	\$7.80m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$0.13m)	(-\$2.90m)	(+\$1.0m)
Seniors	\$4.95m	\$4.86m	\$0.0m	\$5.60m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$0.09m)	(-\$4.86m)	(+\$0.74m)
Community Technical Assistance Centers	\$1.98m	\$1.95m	\$0.0m	\$2.24m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$0.03m)	(-\$1.95m)	(+\$0.29m)
Consumer Network Grants	\$1.50m	\$1.47m	\$0.0m	\$1.69m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$0.03m)	(-\$1.47m)	(+\$0.22m)
	\$3.40m	\$3.34m	\$0.0m	\$3.83m
Family Network Grants	\$3.40m (\$0.0m) \$3.8m	(-\$0.06m)	(-\$3.34m)	(+\$0.49m)
Minority Workforce Training	\$3.8m	\$3.73m	\$0.0m	\$4.28m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$0.07m)	(-\$3.73m)	(+\$0.55m)
NIH	41.102.5			
NIMH	\$1,403.6m	\$1,404.5m	\$1,407.0m	\$1,498.6m
	(+\$0.1m)	(+\$0.9m)	(+\$2.5m)	(+\$94.1m)
NIDA	\$1,000.3m	\$1,000.7m	\$1,002.0m	\$1,067.7m
	(+\$0.3m)	(+\$0.4m)	(+\$1.3m)	(+\$67.0m)
NIAAA	\$436.3m	\$436.3m	\$437.0m	\$465.5m
	(+\$0.4m)	(0.0m)	(+\$0.7m)	(+\$29.2m)



CMHS Funding vs. FY 05 Plus Inflation (2.1%/yr) (Dollars in Millions)

	FY05	FY06	FY07	FY08	FY09
CMHS Constant 05 Dollars	\$901.30	\$920.20	\$939.60	\$959.30	\$979.50
	\$901.30	\$884.20	\$883.90	\$910.90	\$784.30
CMHS Actual Dollars					(PROPOSED)
					(-\$195.20)
Loss in Purchasing Power	\$0.00	(-\$36.00)	(-\$55.70)	(-\$48.40)	(-21.40%)

Programs at a Glance

In keeping with the Mental Health Liaison Group's mission to educate and disseminate critical information concerning pivotal programs important to the 54 million Americans with mental disorders, the following are short summaries of programs detailed in this report:

Addressing Child and Adolescent Post-Traumatic Stress — Funds the design and implementation of model programs to treat mental disorders in young people who are victims or witnesses of violence, and research and development of evidence-based practices on treating and preventing trauma-related mental disorders.

Aftercare for Youth Offenders — Provides grants targeted to help youth overcome the serious emotional problems that have led or contributed to their involvement with the juvenile justice system.

Children's Mental Health Services Program — Provides six-year awards to public entities for developing intensive, comprehensive community-based mental health services for children with serious emotional disturbances (SED).

Community Action Grants — Enable citizens at the local level to come together in support of evidence-based practices, including family education, jail diversion, police training, cultural competence and assertive community treatment. Communities use these grants constructively to gain consensus for implementation of effective programs and services for people with severe mental illnesses.

Community Mental Health Performance Partnership Block Grant — Represents the principal federal discretionary program for community-based mental health services for adults and children. The Block Grant gives states flexibility to fund services that are tailored to meet the unique needs and priorities of consumers in the public mental health system in that state.

Consumer and Consumer/Support Technical Assistance Centers — Provide technical assistance to consumers, families, and those giving support to persons with mental illness.

Emergency Mental Health Centers — Provide grants to states and localities so that they may benefit from enhanced mental health emergency services. Grants may be used to establish mobile crisis intervention teams capable of responding to emergencies in the community. These grants were created to offer new services in areas where existing service coverage is inadequate.

Jail Diversion Grants — Provide up to 125 grants to states or localities to develop and implement programs to divert individuals with a mental illness from the criminal justice system to community-based service.

Mental Health and Child Welfare Services Integration — Addresses the serious needs of children and adolescents in the child welfare system and the needs of youth at risk for placement in the system.

Mental Health Outreach and Treatment to the Elderly – Provides grants to facilitate the implementation of evidence-based mental health practices to reach older adults, only a small percentage of who currently receive needed treatment and services. This program is a necessary step to begin to address the discrepancy between the growing numbers of older Americans who need mental health services and the lack of evidence-based treatment available to them.

Minority Workforce Training – Provides grants to encourage more ethnic minorities to provide psychiatric, psychological and other mental health and substance abuse services in chronically underserved areas.

Projects for Assistance in Transition from Homelessness (PATH) Program — Helps localities and nonprofits provide flexible, community-based services to people who are homeless (or at risk of homelessness) and have serious mental illnesses or who have a serious mental illness along with a substance abuse disorder.

Programs of Regional and National Significance (PRNS) — Allow state and local mental health authorities to access information about the most promising methods for improving the performance of programs.



Protection and Advocacy (PAIMI) — Provides services for persons with a significant mental illness or emotional impairment in nursing homes, state psychiatric facilities, residential settings and in the community.

Statewide Consumer Network Grants — Enhance state capacity and infrastructure by supporting consumer organizations. These grants ensure that consumers are the catalysts for transforming the mental health and related systems in their state and for making recovery and resiliency the expectation and not the exception.

Statewide Family Network Grants — Provide peer-to-peer support, accurate information about mental health services, and training so that families can effectively participate in planning, designing, implementing and evaluating services for children with emotional, behavioral, or mental disorders. These grants serve as a key vehicle for disseminating information about evidence-based and effective practice.

Mental Health Transformation State Incentive Grants (SIGs) — Provide the resources to develop plans for enhancing the use of existing resources to serve persons with mental illnesses and children and youth with emotional and behavioral disorders. These plans help increase the flexibility of resources at the state and local levels, hold state and local governments more accountable, and expand the option and array of available services and supports.

Suicide Prevention for Children and Adolescents — Funds service and training programs in states and communities, with a focus on the needs of communities and groups experiencing high or rising rates of suicide. The Garrett Lee Smith Memorial Act Program provides early intervention and assessment services, including screening programs, to youth who are at risk for mental or emotional disorders that may lead to a suicide attempt.

Treatment for Co-occurring Mental Illness and Addiction Disorders — Innovative programs directed to the special needs of people with co-occurring serious mental illnesses and addictions disorders.

Youth Violence Prevention — Safe Schools/Healthy Students initiative (one example of Youth Violence Prevention) provides three-year grants to local school districts to fund programs addressing school violence prevention through a wide range of early childhood development, early intervention and prevention, suicide prevention, and mental health treatment services.

MENTAL HEALTH – CRISIS after CRISIS

National Snapshot

[T]he United States saw the largest one-year jump [an 8 percent increase] in child and teen suicide rates in 15 years, according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (*Reuters*, 9/9/07)

Mental health disorders account for more than 1 billion sick days each year—about one-third of all days missed for chronic conditions from school and work—a study in the *Archives of General Psychiatry* indicates. Depression accounts for the most sick days, followed by social phobia, PTSD and generalized anxiety disorder. "If we treated which are often left unrecognized and untreated, "we could wipe out a lot of the said Harvard Medical School professor Ronald Kessler, who was also the study's senior author. (*Los Angeles Times*, 10/2/07)

"An October 2006 report by the National Association of State Mental Health Program Directors illustrates how dire the need is for people with mental illness. This report states that persons with serious mental illness die, on average, 25 years earlier than the general population." (Morbidity and Mortality in People with Serious Mental Illness, 10/06)

Suicides among active-duty soldiers in 2007 reached their highest level since the Army began keeping such records in 1980. Last year, 121 soldiers took their own lives, nearly 20 percent more than in 2006. (Washington Post, 1/31/08)

Depression, alone, is more damaging to everyday life than are many chronic physical conditions, such as diabetes, angina and asthma, a World Health Organization study published in the *Lancet* indicates. And, in combination with physical conditions, depression intensifies the severity of those conditions. (*Reuters*, 9/7/07)

People who have depression are more likely to have hardening of the arteries, or arteriosclerosis. This condition can lead to cardiovascular diseases, but also cause body reactions that reinforce the depression. In addition, people with severe mental illnesses were up to three times more likely than others to die from cardiovascular diseases before age 50. And, older adults who feel persistently lonely are more likely than others to develop symptoms similar to those found in people who have Alzheimer's. (<u>Archives of General Psychiatry</u>, 2/5/07)

People who have cancer are two- to 2.5 times more likely to die as a result of suicide than people who don't have cancer. Among cancer patients, men were five times more likely to die as a result of suicide than women and were more likely to die immediately after diagnoses were made. (Annals of Oncology, 10/06)

Older adults who have chronic depression are more likely to develop diabetes, a study in the Archives of Internal Medicine indicates. The results of the study held true even when the study researchers took into account risk factors for developing diabetes, such as inactivity, which leads to weight gain and possibly diabetes. Although the Northwestern University researchers did not design the study to possibly answer what biological mechanism might be responsible for the link, they speculate that people with depression have higher levels of stress hormones than others, which decrease individuals' sensitivity to insulin. (*Reuters*, 4/23/07)

People who have mental illnesses and who have committed crimes are less likely to be re-arrested in the future if they go through special mental health courts instead of the regular criminal justice system, researchers report in the *American Journal of Psychiatry*. In San Francisco, the mental health courts that were studied are designed to help people with severe disorders who frequently cycle through the justice system and who have committed murder or other extremely violent crimes. Within 18 months of going through the mental heath courts, 42 percent of individuals were re-arrested for new crimes compared with 57 percent of individuals with severe disorders who went through the regular system. "The mental health court model has promise as one approach to reducing the unnecessary criminalization of people with mental disorders," one researcher said. (*Reuters*, 10/12/07)



An estimated \$100 million of taxpayers' money is spent on detention of youth awaiting community mental health services. (House Government Reform Committee Report, July 7, 2004)

According to the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), an estimated 17 million adults ages 18 and older (8.0 percent) reported experiencing at least one major depressive episode during the past year. (SAMHSA Advisory Council, 11/18/05)

Hurricane Katrina

Nearly one-half of New Orleans residents had depression, panic disorder and PTSD in the seven months after Hurricane Katrina devastated the city, a study in the *Archives of General Psychiatry* indicates. The percentage of affected residents was significantly greater than the 25 percent of Gulf Coast residents similarly affected, which is a rate comparable to other disasters, the study's researchers wrote. People who were most susceptible to the disorders were people with low incomes, who were unemployed before the storm and who were not married. More Gulf Coast Residents Have Suicidal Thoughts,

Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Symptoms, Survey Finds (Reuters, 12/3/07)

Calls made to SAMHSA's National Suicide Prevention Lifeline nearly doubled in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina in September 2005. Before Hurricane Katrina, the Lifeline received on average 900 calls per week. After the hurricane, calls skyrocketed to 1,400 calls per week (a 55 percent increase). (National Suicide Prevention Lifeline, 1/20/06)

Administration's FY 2009 Budget

In creating the New Freedom Commission on Mental Health, President George W. Bush emphatically declared that "Our country must make a commitment: Americans with mental illness deserve our understanding, and they deserve excellent care. I look forward to…fixing the [mental health] system, so that Americans do not fall through the

Mental Health Services Funding

Despite the release of an "Action Agenda" in July 2005 to ensure that people with mental illness have every opportunity for recovery, the Administration proposes a 14 percent cut (from \$911 to \$784 million) to mental health services at the Center for Mental Health Services (CMHS). Overall, the administration would cut funding for the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) by 6 percent including proposals to:

- o **Eliminate** the entire \$2 million budget for the Consumer Technical Assistance Centers;
- o **Eliminate** the entire \$1.5 million budget for the Statewide Consumer Network Grants;
- o **Eliminate** the entire \$3.4 million budget for the Statewide Family Network Grants;
- o Eliminate the entire \$5 million budget for the Older Adults Outreach and Treatment program;
- o **Eliminate** the entire \$3.8 million budget for the Minority Fellowship Program;
- o **Eliminate** the entire \$26.0 million budget for the Transformation State Incentive Grants;
- o Cut suicide prevention by \$15 million or 31 percent, from \$48.5 million to \$33.5 million;
- Cut youth violence prevention programs by \$18 million or 20 percent, from \$93 million to \$75 million;
- o Cut child-trauma services by \$17.5 million or 52 percent, from \$33.1 million to \$15.6 million;
- o Cut the Protection and Advocacy program by nearly \$1 million, from \$34.9 million to \$34.0 million;
- o Cut funding for substance abuse prevention by 20 percent, from \$194 to \$158 million;
- Provide an increase of \$6 million, from \$53 million to \$59 million, for the homelessness (PATH) program;
- o **Provide an increase** of \$12 million, from \$102 million to \$114 million, for the children's systems-of-care program; and
- o **Level** fund (in ostensibly, a cut given inflation) the mental health block grant.

Mental Health Research Funding

The Administration's budget proposes level funding (in effect a cut, given inflation) for research activities at the National Institutes of Mental Health, Drug Abuse, and Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism.

The President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health (www.mentalhealthcommission.gov)

The President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health, the first such commission in over 25 years, found that **our nation's failure to prioritize mental health is a national tragedy.** One measure of the scope of that tragedy is the over 30,000 lives lost annually to suicide – a loss, the Commission states, that is largely preventable.

The Commission also found America's mental health system to be "in shambles," resulting in millions of people with mental illnesses not receiving the care they need. The report calls for transforming fragmented public mental health services into a system focused on early intervention and recovery. Such a system would provide people with mental health needs the treatment and supports necessary to live, work, learn, and participate fully in their communities.

Consequently, Congress and the Administration should focus on funding community-based services, like those identified as model programs in the Commission's report, and ensure that the CMHS has a budget sufficient to put proven prevention and treatment programs in place in *every* community across the country.

The Commission's report stated decisively that mental illness is shockingly common, affecting almost every American family – directly or indirectly. *No community is unaffected, no school or workplace untouched.*

Just the Facts

- Mental illness, compared with all other diseases, ranks first in terms of causing disability in the U.S.
- Approximately 54 million Americans have a mental disorder.
- 20 percent of the population experiences a mental disorder in a given year.
- Persons with serious mental illness die, on average, 25 years earlier than the general population.
- About 5 percent of the population suffers from a severe and persistent mental illness such as schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, or major depression.
- Treatment outcomes for people with serious mental illnesses such as bipolar disorder have higher success rates (60-80 percent) than well-established general medical or surgical treatments for heart disease such as angioplasty.

The Cost of Not Providing Meaningful Funding Increases for Mental Health Programs

- Overall, there are over 30,000 suicides in America every year and the rate of teen suicide has tripled since the 1950s.
- Mental illness plays a major role in the over 650,000 attempted suicides every year.
- An astounding 80 percent of children entering the juvenile justice system have mental disorders. Many juvenile detention facilities are not equipped to treat them.
- The gap between scientific discovery to service delivery is an astounding 15 years.
- The total yearly cost for mental illness in both the private and public sector in the U.S. is over \$200 billion. Of this amount, less than half (\$92 billion) comes from direct treatment costs, with \$105 billion due to lost productivity and \$8 billion resulting from crime and welfare costs. The cost of untreated and mistreated mental illness to American businesses, the government and families has grown to \$113 billion annually.
- When the mental health system fails to deliver the right types and combination of care, the results can be disastrous for our entire nation: school failure, substance abuse, homelessness, crime, and incarceration.
- While there are 50,000 beds in state psychiatric hospitals today, there are hundreds of thousands of people with serious mental illness in other settings not tailored to meet their needs in nursing homes, jails, and homeless shelters.

- Criminal justice and corrections officials have called for stronger community mental health service systems
 in order to prevent unnecessary and costly "criminalization" of people with mental illnesses.
- The FY 2006 budget included significant changes to the \$21.8 million Mental Health Block Grant set-aside, including the transfer of CMHS' State Data Infrastructure Grant (DIG) program to the set-aside. This change displaced approximately \$10 million in funding for state technical assistance and research and evaluation programs.

History of Chronic Neglect and Underfunding

- Mental illness is the leading cause of disability in the U.S., but only 7 percent of all healthcare expenditures are designated for mental health disorders.
- The Administration's FY 2009 budget proposes cuts for several vital CMHS programs for the seventh year in the last eight.
- More than 67 percent of adults and nearly 80 percent of children who need mental health services <u>do not</u> receive treatment.
- The reasons for this treatment gap include: (1) financial barriers, including discriminatory provisions in both private and public health insurance plans that limit access to mental health treatments and (2) the historical stigma surrounding mental illness and treatment.
- In the words of the Surgeon General's Report on Mental Health, we must "overcome the gaps in what is known and remove the barriers that keep people from ...obtaining...treatments."

Shift from Institutional Care to Community-Based Care

- Over the last several decades, the public mental health system has shifted its emphasis from institution-based care to community-based care a more cost-efficient and effective way to promote recovery among many people with mental illnesses who can go on to lead productive lives in the community.
- Approximately two-thirds of state funding for mental health currently goes to provide community services.
 Similarly, most alcohol and drug treatment services are community-based.
- The 1999 U.S. Supreme Court decision in Olmstead v. L.C. and E.W. mandates that states develop adequate community services to move people with disabilities out of institutions a blueprint for the President's New Freedom Initiative.
- Without adequate funding, however, efforts to transition people out of institutions and better serve those currently living in our communities will continue to fail.
- The transition from institutional care to community-based care has never been adequately funded, even though we know that community-based care is less expensive than institutional care.

A Nation at Risk

- The President's FY 2008 budget proposes to reduce by \$672,000 funding for the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services (SAMHSA) National Suicide Prevention Lifeline (1-800-273-TALK), a network of more than 120 crisis centers located in communities across the country that respond, 24 hours a day, to individuals in emotional distress or suicidal crisis. Recently completed evaluations of crisis hotline processes and outcomes give evidence to support hotlines' role in responding to crisis and suicidal callers. During follow-up calls, approximately 12 percent of suicidal callers spontaneously reported that the call saved his/her life.
- The President's FY 2008 budget would also eliminate SAMHSA's Linking Adolescents at Risk for Suicide to Mental Health Services (Adolescents at Risk) program, which funds local educational agencies and domestic public and private nonprofit entities working in conjunction with local educational agencies to evaluate voluntary school-based programs that focus on identification and referral of high school youth who are at risk for suicide or suicide attempts.

Mental Health Disparities

- Private insurers typically pay for mental health and substance abuse services at a level far lower than that paid for other healthcare services. That has led to a two-tiered system: a set of privately-funded services for people who have insurance or can pay for their treatment; and a public safety net for individuals who have used up all of their benefits or are uninsured.
- For ethnic and racial minorities, the rate of treatment and quality of care is even lower than that for the general population.

Vanishing Safety Net

- Medicaid, the public health safety net, provides mental health services to low-income persons. However, financial changes at the federal level are pressuring states to restrict services.
- There are ten times more people with mental illnesses in jails or prisons than in state psychiatric hospitals. In the course of the next year, almost 750,000 people with mental illnesses will find themselves in jails or prisons.
- The strain of a stressed mental health infrastructure is evident at the local/county level across the country. In the majority of the country, local jurisdictions have the ultimate responsibility to provide care and services in their communities to those most in need.
- With shrinking Medicaid benefits, discretionary federal funding for mental health services will be pivotal to ensure the American people's access to mental health care.
- Our advocacy for mental health funding increases is compatible with the President's national priority of
 addressing domestic security, including aid for local police and fire departments, and assistance for the
 public health system.

Mental Health and Substance Abuse Services

- SAMHSA's CMHS, CSAT and Center for Substance Abuse Prevention (CSAP) are the primary federal agencies to mobilize and improve mental health and addiction services in the United States.
- CMHS promotes improvements in mental health services that enhance the lives of adults who experience
 mental illnesses and children with serious emotional disorders; fills unmet and emerging needs; bridges the
 gap between research and practice; and strengthens data collection to improve quality and enhance
 accountability.

Mental Health and Substance Abuse Research

- The National Institutes of Health (NIH) is the world's premier medical and behavioral research institution, supporting more than 50,000 scientists at 1,700 research universities, medical schools, teaching hospitals, independent research institutions, and industrial organizations throughout the United States. It is comprised of 27 distinct institutes, centers and divisions.
- The National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH), the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA), and the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) three institutes at the NIH are the leading federal agencies supporting basic biomedical and behavioral research related to mental illness, substance abuse and addiction disorders.
- An overwhelming body of scientific research demonstrates that: (1) mental illnesses are diseases with clear biological and social components; (2) treatment is effective; and (3) the nation has realized immense dividends from five decades of investment in research focused on mental illness and mental health.

Mental Health Services

Fiscal Year 2009 Funding Recommendations

for the

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration Center for Mental Health Services

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA)

"The role of the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) is to provide national leadership in improving mental health and substance abuse services by designing performance measures, advancing service-related knowledge development, and facilitating the exchange of technical assistance. SAMHSA fosters the development of standards of care for service providers in collaboration with states, communities, managed care organizations, and consumer groups, and it assists in the development of information and data systems for services evaluation. SAMHSA also provides crucial resources to provide safety net mental health services to the under or uninsured in every state."

SAMHSA evolved from the former Alcohol, Drug and Mental Health Administration (ADAMHA) as a result of P.L. 94-123. The Children's Health Act (P.L. 106-310), enacted in October 2000, reauthorized most of SAMHSA's ongoing programs and added new programs to address emerging national priorities. The authorization of SAMHSA expired at the end of FY 2004. This document addresses appropriations recommendations for the Center for Mental Health Services within SAMHSA. These recommendations are derived from consultations with state and local mental health authorities, providers, researchers and consumers.

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA)

Administrator: Terry Cline, Ph.D. (240) 276-2000 SAMHSA Legislative Contact: Joe Faha (240) 276-2000 **Center for Mental Health Services (CMHS)**

Director: A. Kathryn Power, M.Ed. (240) 276-1310

Federal Dollars Help to Finance Community-Based Care in the Nation's Public Mental Health System

Our nation's public mental health system is undergoing tremendous change. Since 1990, states have reduced public inpatient hospital beds at a rate higher than during the deinstitutionalization that occurred in the 1960s and 1970s. In addition, a growing number of states have privatized their public mental health systems through Medicaid managed care for persons with severe mental illness.

Since 1995, changes in state and federal policy have served to compound the strain on state and local public mental health systems. In the wake of the 1999 Supreme Court decision in Olmstead v. L.C. and E.W. — which found that unjustified institutionalization of individuals with mental illness constitutes unlawful discrimination under the Americans with Disabilities Act — state and local contributions to community-based services have increased, but federal investments to community care remain stagnant.

Reform of the eligibility rules for the Supplemental Security Income (SSI) program impacting both children and persons whose disability was originally based on substance abuse has shifted a tremendous and growing burden to local communities. In addition, changes to the Medicaid Disproportionate Share (DSH) program have left states scrambling to make up for lost federal resources.

As a result of these trends, the federal investment in community-based care is growing in importance. For example, the nearly \$421 million in FY 2008 federal funds flowing through the Community Mental Health Services Performance Partnership Block Grant administered by SAMHSA's Center for Mental Health Services (CMHS) is an increasingly critical source of funding for state and local mental health departments. Moreover, these federal dollars are used to fund a wider and more diverse array of community-based services.

Local Community Mental Health Agencies provide services such as case management, emergency interventions and 24-hour hotlines to stabilize people in crisis as well as coordinate care for individuals with schizophrenia or manic depression who require extensive supports.

Psychosocial Rehabilitation Programs provide a comprehensive array of mental health services, life skill development, case management, housing, vocational rehabilitation, and employment services for individuals with mental illnesses. Initially designed to serve persons with a history of severe mental disorders, including those requiring frequent hospitalization, these programs now serve a broad range of persons with mental illness.

Partial Hospitalization and Day Treatment Services permit children with serious emotional disturbances and adults to get intensive care during working or school hours and still go home at night. Funding provided through CMHS programs has focused on the highest priority service needs in an effort to improve the value and effectiveness of community-based services delivery.

Children — The Children's Mental Health Services Program funds the organization of systems of care for children with serious emotional disturbances in child welfare, juvenile justice and special education who often fail to receive the mental health services they require. Extensive evaluation of this program suggests that it has had a significant impact on the communities it serves. Outcomes for children and their families have improved, including symptom reduction, improvement in school performance, fewer out-of-home placements, and fewer hospitalizations.

Homelessness — The Projects for Assistance in Transition from Homelessness (PATH) program is the only federal program that provides mental health care and evaluates the implementation of innovative outreach services to homeless Americans, a third of whom have mental illnesses.

The Protection and Advocacy Program for Individuals with Mental Illness (PAIMI) helps protect the legal rights of people with severe mental illnesses in nursing homes, state mental hospitals, residential settings, and in the community.

Programs of Regional and National Significance (PRNS) — As our knowledge of mental illness has steadily increased, Americans' access to care has paradoxically shrunk. The Programs of Regional and National Significance are a catalyst for local communities to improve mental-health service delivery by implementing proven, evidence-based practices for adults with serious mental illnesses and children with serious emotional disorders. These programs allow state and local mental health authorities to access information and "best practices." Without these programs, we expand the gulf of time it takes for research to be applied to the field which the Institutes of Medicine estimates to be 15 years.

Terrorism — Terrorism is a psychological assault that aims to destabilize society by spreading fear, panic, and chaos. The sustained threat of terrorism leads to significant mental health problems, including post-traumatic stress disorder, depression, and substance abuse. Psychological defenses are integral to Homeland Security — enabling first responders, communities and individuals to cope effectively and maintain stability and productivity. Today, clinicians, public health providers and first responders lack many of the skills necessary to address immediate or long-term psychological needs.

Federal and state public health, mental health and substance abuse agencies rarely have the expertise, personnel or financial resources to respond adequately. Formal and informal community leaders are not prepared to actively stabilize their communities. In fact, people (including many first responders) may misunderstand the difference between psychological distress and mental illness, and may not seek or know how to access supportive services due to fear or stigma.

Current Homeland Security funding does not adequately address these concerns. Generally, the plans and resources have been focused broadly on public health agencies. However, our public health system does not encompass psychological and mental health problems in its epidemiological or service systems. For historical reasons, the existing public mental health system often operates in isolation from the health and public health systems. The Nation cannot afford to let this traditional split undermine our ability to respond to the terrorist threat.

Therefore, the Mental Health Liaison Group strongly urges Congress to supplement existing federal Homeland Security funding for states to fully incorporate mental health into current plans and programs.

Community Mental Health Services Block Grant

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$428.3m	\$421.0m	\$421.0m	\$482.9m

What Is the Community Mental Health Services Block Grant?

The Community Mental Health Services Block Grant is the principal federal discretionary program supporting community-based mental health services for adults and children. States may utilize block grant dollars to provide a range of critical services for adults with serious mental illnesses and children with disturbances, serious emotional including employment assistance. and housing case management (including Assertive Community Treatment), school-based support services, family and parenting education, and peer support.

The Block Grant is a flexible source of funding that is used to support new services and programs, expand or enhance access under existing programs, and leverage additional state and community dollars. In addition, it provides stability for community-based service providers, many of which are non-profit and require a reliable source of funding to ensure continuity of care.

Why is the Block Grant Important?

Over the last three decades, the number of people in state psychiatric hospitals has declined significantly, from about 700,000 in the late 1960's to about 50,000 today. As a result, state mental health agencies have shifted significant portions of their funding from inpatient hospitals into community programs. Recent data indicates that over 70 percent of state mental health agency budgets are now used to support community-based care.

The first-ever U.S. Surgeon General's Report on Mental Health provides clear scientific evidence demonstrating the effectiveness and desirability of these community-based options.

The Block Grant is vital because it gives states critical flexibility to: (1) fund services that are tailored to meet the unique needs and priorities of consumers of the public mental health system in that

state; (2) hold providers accountable for access and the quality of services provided; and (3) coordinate services and blend funding streams to help finance the broad range of supports — medical and social services — that individuals with mental illnesses need to live safely and effectively in the community.

What Justifies Federal Spending for the Block Grant?

Despite increasing pressure from the federal government to expand community-based services for with mental illnesses, the federal government's financial support is limited. Medicaid provides optional coverage for some services under separate Medicaid options, but technical barriers exist to states that want to use Medicaid waivers to provide these services. In addition, many essential elements of effective community-based care--such as housing, employment services, and peer support — are nonmedical in nature and generally are not reimbursable under Medicaid. Therefore, Block Grant funding is the principal vehicle for federal financial support for evidence-based comprehensive community based services for people with serious mental illnesses.

Since its inception, the Mental Health Block Grant has been one of the highest funding priorities of the Mental Health Liaison Group. The MHLG has sought to increase block grant funding and to ensure that the Block Grant provides evidence-based community services for populations most in need of services. These populations include adults with severe mental illness who:

- have a history of repeated psychiatric hospitalizations or repeated use of intensive community services;
- are dually diagnosed with a mental illness and a substance use disorder;
- have a history of interactions with the criminal justice system, including arrests for vagrancy and other misdemeanors; or
- are currently homeless.

Children with serious emotional disturbances who:

- are at risk of out-of-home placement;
- are dually-diagnosed with serious emotional disturbance and a substance abuse disorder; or
- as a result of their disorder, are at high risk for the following significant adverse outcomes: attempted suicide, parental relinquishment of custody, legal involvement, behavior dangerous to themselves or others, running away, being homeless, or school failure.

Furthermore, a \$62 million increase in the Block Grant in FY 2009 could provide:

- Housing opportunities across the continuum of residential options for consumers;
- Employment opportunities for consumers, including support in retaining employment;

- Outreach and treatment services focused on the needs of the elderly, or
- Transportation for consumers in rural areas to mental health services.

Community-Based Services Work

Linda was first diagnosed with a mental illness after her first son was born. Each time she went into crisis, she was hospitalized for 5-7 days. After release, it would take months before she was back to her "groove." A few years later, Linda was admitted to the State Hospital and she lost her children, her home, and her car. She fought guardianship 5 times while in the State facility, but eventually failed. While at the hospital, a peer support agency (PSA) staff person visited her, gave her a Pre-Crisis Respite Interview, and gave her information about the peer-run agency. Linda began to reconnect with her community while in crisis respite and attended groups at the PSA. Linda describes her stay as "powerful" and that it empowered her. Now, she does not see herself as a person in crisis, but as one of courage and confidence. She states that she is an "individual that has gained independence through peer support."

Comprehensive Community Mental Health Services for Children and Their Families Program

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$104.1m	\$102.3m	\$114.5m	\$117.3m

Caring for Children with Behavioral or Emotional Needs and Their Families is Essential

An estimated 20 percent, or 13.7 million American children, have a diagnosable mental or emotional disorder. Between 5 and 9 percent have a serious emotional disturbance (SED), which means they have significant problems functioning at home, at school and in their community. Children with SED and their families need appropriate and extensive interventions to adequately address their many challenges. This program creates "systems-of-care" that focus on community-based services that are coordinated and uniquely tailored for each child and family.

Studies have shown that systems-of-care improve the functioning of children and youth with SED, and significantly reduce unnecessary and expensive hospitalizations. Community-based services provided through these systems-of-care initiatives include: diagnostic and evaluation services; outpatient services provided in a clinic, school or office; emergency services; intensive home-based services; intensive day-treatment; respite care; therapeutic foster care; and services that assist the child in making the transition from the services received as a child to the services to be received as an adult.

Prior to the development of a system-of-careapproach, these children were typically underserved or served inappropriately by fragmented service systems. In a 1990 survey, several states reported that thousands of children were placed in out-of-state mental health facilities, which cost states millions of dollars. In addition, thousands of children were treated in state hospitals — often in remote locations, away from family and other sources of support despite demonstrated effectiveness of community-based programs. In response to these findings, federal leadership, along with a growing family movement, promoted a new paradigm for serving children with SED and their families. Since first articulated by Stroul and Friedman in 1986, this system-of-care-approach has evolved into the principal organizing framework shaping the development and delivery of community-based children's mental health services in the United States.

What Does the Children's Program Do?

Established in 1993, the Children's Mental Health Services Program provides six-year cooperative agreements to public entities for developing comprehensive home and community-based mental health services for children with SED and their families. The program assists states, political subdivisions of states, American Indian and Alaska Native tribes, territories, and the District of Columbia implement systems of care that are child-centered, family-driven, and culturally competent.

Hallmarks of this approach include the following:

- The mental health service system is driven by the needs and preferences of the child and family using a strengths-based, rather than deficit-based, perspective;
- Family involvement is integrated into all aspects of system and service policy development, planning, implementation, and evaluation;
- The focus and management of services are built upon multi-agency collaboration and grounded in a strong community base;
- A broad array of services and supports is provided in an individualized, flexible, coordinated manner, and emphasizes treatment in the least restrictive, most appropriate setting; and
- The services offered, the agencies participating, and the programs generated are responsive to the cultural context and characteristics of the populations that are served.

The Center for Mental Health Services (CMHS) within the Substance Abuse and Mental Health

Services Administration (SAMHSA) has the primary responsibility of managing this program.

Why Is the Children's Program Important?

Although an estimated 13.7 million American children have a diagnosable mental or emotional disorder, and nearly half of these children have severe disorders, *only one-fifth of these youth receive appropriate services and treatment* (NIMH, 1994). In the past twelve years, the Children's Mental Health Services Program has provided services to nearly 70,000 children and youth, who are diagnosed with serious mental and emotional disturbances. However much more needs to be done.

As stated in the Report of the Surgeon General's Conference on Children's Mental Health: A National Action Agenda published in 2000, "The burden of suffering experienced by children with mental health needs and their families has created a health crisis in this country." Growing numbers of children are suffering needlessly because their emotional, behavioral, and developmental needs are not being met by those very institutions which were explicitly created to take care of them." Often, services and supports for children with serious emotional disturbance and their families who are involved with than one child-serving system uncoordinated and fragmented. Typically, the only options available are outpatient therapy, medication, or hospitalization. Frequently there are long waits for these services because they are operating at capacity, making them inaccessible for new clients, even in crisis situations. These statements were echoed in the final report of the President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health.

There is a tremendous need to address children's mental health in this country and this program has demonstrated successful outcomes.

Justifying the Costs

The program has served children in 496 or nearly 16 percent of the 3,142 counties in the U.S, representing a small proportion of the country being exposed to these highly successful systems-of-care services (the President's 2005 Budget). Key outcomes for children and families in comprehensive community mental health systems of care in 2005 include:

• Reduced costs due to fewer days in inpatient care. The average reduction in per-child inpatient hospital days from entry

into services to 12 months translated into an average per-child cost savings of \$2,776.

- Decreased utilization of inpatient facilities. The percentage of children who used inpatient facilities within the previous 6 months decreased 54 percent from entry into systems of care to 18 months after systems of care.
- Reduced arrest results in per-child cost savings. From entry into systems of care to 12 months after entry, the average reduction in number of arrests per child within the prior 6 months translated into an average per-child cost savings of \$784.
- Mental health improvements sustained. Emotional and behavioral problems were reduced significantly or remained stable for nearly 90 percent of children after 18 months in systems of care.
- Suicide-related behaviors were significantly reduced. The percentage of children and youth who had deliberately harmed themselves or had attempted suicide decreased 32 percent after 12 months in systems of care.
- School attendance improved. The percentage of children with regular school attendance (i.e., 75 percent of the time or more) during the previous 6 months increased nearly 10 percent with 84 percent attending school regularly after 18 months in systems of care.
- School achievement improved. The percentage of children with a passing performance (i.e., C or better) during the previous 6 months increased 21 percent with 75 percent of children passing after 18 months in systems of care.
- Significant reductions in placements in juvenile detention and other secure facilities. Children and youth who were placed in juvenile detention or other secure facilities within the previous 6 months decreased 43 percent from entry into services to 18 months after entering systems of care.

Child and Family Profile

The following is a true story that provides a typical example of how mental health challenges impact families, and place children at risk, particularly when services are unavailable and uncoordinated.

When Jordan first came to a system of care at age 10, he and his mother were having serious problems getting help for his mental health needs. Having been diagnosed with bipolar disorder at age 6, Jordan's needs were complex and compounded by his mother's own issues related to substance abuse, homelessness, and a chronic, life-threatening illness. When Jordan reached a critical moment where he was hospitalized, his mother considered giving up custody so he could receive residential care for his symptoms.

Once enrolled in the system of care, Jordan began to see substantial improvements in his life. Jordan's service providers included the hospital, his school, and the mental health department's children's intensive services system, which provided mobile mental health case management.

Initially Jordan's plan involved therapeutic respite care and a specialized camp for children with serious mental health needs, but additional supports and services were available because the entire county operated under the system of care's framework. The collaboration among all the service providers has led to more than just improvements at school.

The symptoms associated with Jordan's bipolar disorder have been substantially reduced. Jordan has far fewer hallucinations and periods of suicidal thoughts or behaviors than before. The personal situation of Jordan's mother improved because of the system of care's services. The system of care worked because of collaboration, shared resources, and the close connection between the system of care and the family.

Projects for Assistance in Transition from Homelessness (PATH)

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$54.3m	\$53.3m	\$59.7m	\$61.1m

What Does PATH Do?

The Projects for Assistance in Transition from Homelessness (PATH) formula grant program provides funding to states, localities and non-profit organizations to support individuals who are homeless (or are at risk of homelessness) and have a serious mental illness and/or a co-occurring substance abuse disorder. PATH is designed to encourage the development of local solutions to the problem of homelessness and mental illness through strategies such as aggressive community outreach, case management and housing assistance. Other important core services include referral for primary care, job training and education. PATH requires states and localities to leverage funds through \$1 match for every \$3 in federal funds. Surveys indicate that, in 2005, 463 PATH-funded local agencies enrolled more than 82,000 individuals with the most disabling mental illness with a wide range of racial and ethnic diversity. The most common diagnoses were schizophrenia and psychotic disorders and affective disorders. More than half of homeless consumers at first contact had been homeless for more than 30 days.

Why is PATH Important?

Federal PATH funds, when combined with state and local matching funds are the only resources available in many communities to support the range of services needed to effectively reach and engage individuals with severe mental illness and co-occurring substance abuse disorders. This includes outreach on the streets and in shelters, engagement in treatment services and transition of consumers to mainstream mental illness treatment, transition and permanent housing and support services. PATH is also a key component in ongoing strategies at the federal, state and local level to end chronic homelessness over the next decade – including the Bush Administration's "Samaritan Initiative."

A focus on ending chronic homelessness is critically important to addressing the enormous economic and social costs associated with individuals who stay homeless for long periods and impose enormous

financial burdens on communities as they cycle through hospital emergency rooms, jails, shelters and the streets. Through the Samaritan Initiative, the Administration hopes to make resources available to states and localities to fund some of the services needed by people experiencing chronic homelessness – including permanent housing and case management.

What Justifies Federal Spending for PATH?

For FY 2009, the President is requesting \$59.7 million for the PATH program, a \$ 6.4 million increase over FY 2008. Services funded by the PATH program provide a critical bridge for individuals with severe mental illness who are experiencing chronic homelessness. An increase for PATH for FY 2009 would afford Congress the opportunity to adjust the inequitable interstate funding formula that has left 20 rural and frontier states at the \$300,000 minimum allocation since the program's inception. Despite increases for PATH funding since the 1990s, these minimum allocation states are still receiving the same amount they did in FY 1993. SAMHSA reauthorization currently pending in the Senate would increase this minimum state allocation level without adversely impacting large states

PATH and State and Local Plans to End Chronic Homelessness

In recent years, federal, state and local policy has shifted toward greater investment in strategies to address chronic homelessness, i.e. the needs of individuals who stay homeless for extended periods of time. Chronic homelessness is extremely costly to local communities in terms of increased utilization of emergency rooms, acute care and the criminal justice system. A recent University of Pennsylvania study found that placement in permanent supportive housing was (on average) only slightly more expensive than the cost of maintaining someone in chronic homelessness. More than 300 Mayors and County Executives have created 10-Year Plans to End Chronic Homelessness, and 53 Governors of



states and territories have committed to state Interagency Councils on Homelessness.

In addition, the Interagency Council has constellated a national partnership of every level of government and the private sector. A partnership organized around business principles, accountability, and results in ending homelessness, rather than managing, shuffling, or cycling homeless individuals with mental illness among various systems such as shelters, hospitals and jails. This partnership is demonstrating results in communities around the country. Cost benefit analysis is fueling political will across the country and the Council has linked those studies to solutions, housing, and services.

PATH is a critical resource for states and localities in reaching people with mental illness who experience chronic homelessness. In addition to the outreach and engagement services funded by PATH, local communities also need assistance in funding ongoing services in permanent supportive housing targeted to individuals who are exiting chronic homelessness, including permanent housing financed through HUD's McKinney-Vento Homeless Assistance Act.

GBHI & Services in Permanent Supportive Housing

To address chronic homelessness, the completed plans to set forth by Congress, the President, governors and mayors across the nation call for developing 80,000 new permanent supportive housing units. This will require creating 16,000 units of new permanent supportive housing for chronically homeless people in each of the next 5 years. Federal funding at the level of \$5,000 per unit will leverage other resources to provide the comprehensive services needed to help chronically homeless people achieve housing stability and pursue recovery from mental illness and substance abuse problems.

Therefore, as an important step toward meeting the 2012 goal, Congress should continue to

invest in funding services in permanent supportive housing. For FY 2008, Congress allocated more than \$9 million for this purpose as part of appropriation for SAMHSA's Grants for the Benefit of Homeless Individuals Program These funds complement ongoing investments, through other programs, including PATH and the Center for Substance Abuse Treatment's (CSAT) Targeted Treatment for Homeless Programs, in treatment services that assist homeless people in moving toward recovery and permanent housing.

The MHLG therefore joins our colleagues at the National Alliance to End Homeless, the Corporation for Supportive Housing, the Enterprise Foundation and National AIDS Housing Coalition in support of an additional \$55 million for the GBHI program targeted to services in permanent supportive housing in the FY 2009 Labor, Health and Human Services and Education appropriations bill.

Protection and Advocacy for Individuals with Mental Illness (PAIMI)

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$34.0m	\$34.9m	\$34.0m	\$40.0m

What Does PAIMI Do?

In 1986, Congress authorized the Protection and Advocacy for Individuals with Mental Illness (PAIMI) Act. PAIMI is funded through the Department of Health and Human Services Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). The program originally was established to provide protection and advocacy services to individuals with mental illness, who were or had recently resided in institutional settings. In 2000, Congress greatly expanded the PAIMI mandate to include all individuals with significant mental illness, including people living in the community in all settings.

In Fiscal Year (FY) 2006 Congress funded the PAIMI program at \$34.0 million, a decrease from FY 2005 due to an across-the-board cut in the omnibus bill. In FY 2007, the PAIMI program was level funded at \$34.0 million. Last year, while gaining an increase for the first time in four years, the acrossthe-board cut that was also included in the omnibus bill resulted in an FY 2008 budget of \$34.9 million. Given the expanded mission of this critical program and increasing numbers of individuals with mental illness moving from institutions to community settings as a result of the Supreme Court's Olmstead decision and the President's New Freedom Initiative, these funding levels have had a detrimental effect on Protection & Advocacy (P&A) organizations' ability to serve all those who need their services.

Why is PAIMI Important?

Under the PAIMI Program, P&As are authorized to investigate abuse and neglect in all public and private facilities and community settings, including hospitals, nursing facilities and group homes – and to oversee the effectiveness of state agencies that license and regulate these programs. PAIMI advocates also play an important role in ensuring that people with mental illness have access to needed supports and services in the community so they can live as independently as possible. This includes helping solve problems related to employment and housing discrimination. Unfortunately, PAIMI advocates are playing an increasingly critical role in correctional facilities

where people with mental illness, who are not receiving the supports and services they need in the community, often end up incarcerated. In 2006, the PAIMI program:

- Successfully closed over 17,000 cases of which over 4,500 were related to abuse, 3,700 to neglect, and 9,000 to a violation of individual rights;
- Conducted investigations into the deaths of almost 3,000 individuals with mental illness in hospitals, institutions, and community settings;
- Consistent with the sophisticated and comprehensive approach of the P&A system, utilized a broad range of strategies to resolve issues, including short-term and technical assistance, investigations, and administrative remedies; only 3 percent of cases resulted in legal action being taken;
- Served individuals with mental illness living in all settings, including public and private institutions and hospitals, prisons, foster care, provider-operated housing, and family's and individual's homes;
- Served over 4,000 children and young adults and nearly 15,000 adults and elderly individuals with mental illness; and
- Provided information and referral services to almost 46,000 individuals. In addition, the PAIMI program provided training to over 210,000 individuals.

What Justifies Increased Federal Spending for PAIMI?

The numbers above clearly demonstrate the need already being served for mental health protection and advocacy services. However, unlike the appropriations for the program, the role of the PAIMI program has been expanded the last few years. In addition to the expansion of the PAIMI program to cover all individuals with significant mental illness whether they are located in the community or an institution, HHS has mandated that P&As receive investigation reports of deaths and serious injuries related to abusive restraint and seclusion practices in hospitals and psychiatric facilities for children.



Finally, Congress has also affirmed that P&A programs have a significant role in addressing the community integration needs of individuals identified in the 1999 Supreme Court Olmstead decision.

The Congressional and administrative directives to the PAIMI Program are welcome for two reasons. First, they reflect the growing awareness of the need for reliable protection and advocacy services to persons with mental illness in a variety of settings. Second, they are a strong sign of Congressional trust in the P&A system. However, in order to meet not only the needs of those already being served, but the requirements of these many expansions, additional funding is critical.

PAIMI Success Stories

In addition to the vital oversight and investigation work done by P&As, some examples of the critical work done by PAIMI advocates include:

- The Louisiana P&A, despite losing its offices in New Orleans, assisted hundreds of individuals with mental illness who were without supports, services, and medication in the aftermath of Hurricane Katrina;
- The Wisconsin P&A worked with state administrators to design and implement a Medicaid benefit to provide individualized, recovery-oriented community flexible, mental health services;
- The Utah P&A developed an Inmate Guide to provide information about how to use the medical and mental health systems, which was distributed by the Department of Corrections and presented as a model at a national meeting of correctional executive directors:
- Investigations by the Iowa P&A convinced the Governor to establish a task force to investigate deaths of individuals with mental illness in correctional facilities which made 15 recommendations to reduce such deaths;
- The Colorado P&A created a task force with key members of the Colorado K-12 community and Colorado State Legislature to begin to identify problems surrounding the use of restraint and seclusion of students with serious emotional disorders in schools in an effort to set the stage for effective problem solving, In addition, the P&A is

providing on-going training and technical assistance regarding the use of restraints and seclusion to parents, advocates, school staff, school administrators, and student resource

- The Florida P&A initiated a restraint and seclusion reduction project in the state because Florida had the highest per capita rate in the nation of deaths related to restraint and seclusion. With technical assistance from the P&A, the Florida Legislature passed two laws to reduce and eventually eliminate the use of restraint and seclusion of persons with mental illness and disabilities who are being served by various state agencies. Currently, the P&A is working collaboratively with a number of state agencies and interested parties to promulgate rules establishing restraint and seclusion standards and procedures, in accordance with best practices;
- The Idaho P&A provided relief to individuals with mental illness affected by Hurricanes Katrina and Rita by sending an advocate to the Lousiiana P&A to provide needed services for 30 days. Upon returning to Idaho, the advocate worked closely with three individuals with dual diagnoses who had been displaced to Idaho assisted-living facilites and wished to return to their independent residences in Louisiana. As a result of P&A assistance, all three individuals successfully returned Louisiana and were able to resume living independently in the community;
- The Virgin Islands P&A developed a series of public service announcements that were broadcast on local television networks. As a result of the P&A's efforts, individuals with mental illness and other disabilities, as well as their families, are more proactive about securing information about their rights and how to go about enforcing their rights; and
- The Native American P&A trained nearly 500 individuals on housing issues and the rights of individuals with mental illness.

Programs of Regional and National Significance (PRNS)

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$263.3m	\$299.3m	\$155.3m	\$343.3m

The Center for Mental Health Services (CMHS) addresses priority mental health care needs of regional and national significance by developing and applying best practices, providing training and technical assistance, providing targeted capacity expansion, and changing the service delivery system through family, client-oriented and consumerrun activities. CMHS employs a strategic approach to service development. The strategy provides for three broad steps: (1) developing an evidence base about what services and service delivery mechanisms work; (2) promoting community readiness to adopt evidence based practices; and (3) supporting capacity development. The Children's Health Act (P.L. 106-310), enacted in October 2000, reauthorized most of CMHS' system-improvement activities, and it authorized new programs, many of which are included in CMHS' Programs of Regional and National Significance.

The SAMHSA budget proposal would drastically cut funding for the Programs of Regional and National Significance (PRNS) by \$144 million, or 50 percent. The proposed PRNS budget would cut funding for the Youth Violence Prevention program alone by almost 20 percent or \$18 million.

PRNS includes the programs in its Knowledge Development and Application Program (KDA), its Targeted Capacity Expansion Program (TCE), as well as a number of other programs. On pages 26-43 we describe the salient importance of the following PRNS programs:

Youth Violence Prevention Initiatives.	26
Suicide Prevention for Children and Adolescents and Technical Assistance Centers	28
Addressing the Needs of Children and Adolescents with Post Traumatic Stress	30
Mental Health Transformation State Incentive Grants	33
Grants to Provide Integrated Treatment for Co-occurring Serious Mental Illness and	
Substance Abuse Disorders	34
Jail Diversion Program Grants	35
Mental Health Outreach and Treatment to the Elderly	37
Statewide Family Network Grants	38
Statewide Consumer Network Grants.	40
Consumer and Consumer/Supporter Technical Assistance Centers	41
Community Action Grants	42
Minority Fellowship Training Grants.	43

Youth Violence Prevention Initiatives

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$93.3m	\$93.5m	\$75.7m	\$107.2m

What are the Youth Violence Prevention Initiatives?

Safe School/Healthy Students Initiative: The Center for Mental Health Services (CMHS), within the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, has devoted the majority of its youth violence prevention and intervention funds to a program entitled the Safe Schools/Healthy Students (SS/HS) Initiative. This unique collaboration recognizes that violence among young people can have many causes, including roots in early childhood, family life, mental health issues, and substance abuse. No single activity can be counted on to Thus, SS/HS takes a broad prevent violence. approach, drawing on the best practices and the latest thinking in education, justice, social services, and mental health to help communities take action.

Through grants made to local education agencies, the SS/HS Initiative provides schools and communities in urban, suburban, rural, and tribal areas across the United States with the funds and resources to build or enhance the infrastructure to strengthen healthy child development, thus reducing violent behavior and substance use. These four-year grants to local school districts fund programs addressing school violence prevention through a wide range of early childhood development, early intervention and prevention, suicide prevention, and mental health treatment services. The SS/HS program is administered jointly with the Department of Education (Safe and Drug Free Schools Office) and the Department of Justice (Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention). With financial and technical support from the three Federal partners, 276 communities are creatively linking new and current services to reflect their own specific needs, all with a vision to prevent violence among youth. While grantees work to correct problems as they arise, they also strive to prevent violence before it starts. Science-based approaches are being used to achieve aims such as promoting students' cooperation with their peers, setting standards of behavior, developing healthy student/family relationships, increasing parental involvement in schools, building emotional resiliency and strengthening communication and problem solving skills.

As CMHS' major school violence prevention program, the initiative was started in 1999. Since then, this initiative has been expanded to 49 states with local education agencies in urban, rural and suburban communities. Between FY 1999 and FY 2007, this initiative funded a total of 276 communities and approximately 8.1 million students. In FY 2007, 27 new grantees were funded.

Why Are Youth Violence Prevention Initiatives Important?

Each year qualified applications for the SS/HS Initiative exceed the availability of funds. With additional funds in FY 2008, CMHS could reach more communities with this comprehensive program designed to foster the healthy development of children and prevent youth violence.

The primary objective of this grant program is to promote healthy development, foster resilience in the face of adversity, and prevent violence. To participate in the program, a partnership must be established between a local education authority, a local mental health authority, a local law enforcement agency, a local juvenile justice agency, and family members and students. These partnerships must demonstrate evidence of an integrated, comprehensive community-wide strategy that addresses:

- Safe school environments and violence prevention activities;
- Alcohol, tobacco, and other drug prevention activities;
- Student behavioral, social, and emotional supports;
- Mental health services. (This element may only be funded by SAMHSA);
- Early childhood social and emotional learning programs. (This element may only be funded by SAMHSA);

Grantees focus on these five core areas. Statutory restrictions limit how funding from each federal partner can be applied to these areas.

A National Cross-Site Evaluation is underway, which will include case study reports and documentation of improvement in school safety using key indicators such as school climate, perceptions of safety, and incidents of violent and disruptive behavior. Additionally, local grantee evaluation reports are being reviewed and results summarized for further dissemination.

Technical Assistance is provided to all SS/HS grantees in order to help them attain their goals of interagency collaboration and adoption of evidence-based practices to reduce school violence and substance abuse and promote the healthy development and resiliency of children and youth.

The program includes a Public Awareness/Communications Campaign to fulfill the needs of grantee partnerships and to ensure sustainability of the violence prevention grant programs.

Why Is Additional Federal Funding Justified?

Despite the perception of a deepening crisis, epidemiological data indicates that juvenile violent crimes, as measured by arrests, has actually declined significantly since the early to mid 1990's. However student reports paint a different picture. For example, the U.S. Surgeon General's Report on Youth Violence notes that violent acts among high school seniors increased nearly 50 percent over the past two decades. Youth violence remains one of the nation's leading public health problems. Students, teachers, parents, and other caregivers experience daily anxiety due to threats, bullying, and assaults in their schools. To help prevent youth violence, Congress, since FY 1999, has provided appropriations to CMHS for youth violence prevention initiatives.

Program Data

Academic Achievement Improved

In Toledo, OH: 73 percent and 52 percent increase in students passing 4th and 6th grade proficiency tests In Westbury, NY: Statistically significant improvement in academic achievement among SS/HS students as compared to non-SS/HS students.

School Safety Increased

In Cook County, IL: Gang-related incidents dropped from 81 to fewer than 9.

In Los Angeles, CA: 72 percent of students indicated that SS/HS helped them take responsibility for their behavior; 68 percent reported that they learned to say "no" when someone pressed them to do something that was not safe or good; and 82 percent indicated a high sense of safety at school.

Discipline Referrals/Suspensions Decreased

In Covington, KY: 60 percent reduction in office referrals.

In Redmond, OR: 33 percent decrease in juvenile arrest rate.

In Springfield, OH: 24 percent decrease in discipline referrals and 24 percent decrease in fighting. In Tyrone, PA: 61 percent reduction in suspensions for middle and high school students.

Attendance Increased

In Houston, TX: 11 percent decrease in students reporting missing school due to safety concerns. In Seattle, WA: 30 percent decline in truancy.

Suicide Prevention for Children and Adolescents

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$36.1m	\$48.6m	\$33.5m	\$55.7m

What Do the Suicide Prevention Programs Do?

In 2004, Congress authorized a program for Youth Suicide Early Intervention and Prevention Strategies, the Garrett Lee Smith Memorial Act (P.L. 108-355) to: a) support the planning, implementation, and evaluation of organized activities involving statewide youth suicide intervention and prevention strategies; b) authorize grants to institutions of higher education to reduce student mental and behavioral health problems; and c) authorize funding for the national suicide prevention resource center. The Garrett Lee Smith program provides early intervention and assessment services, including screening programs, to vouth who are at risk for mental or emotional disorders that may lead to a suicide attempt. The services are integrated with school systems, educational institutions, juvenile justice systems, substance abuse programs, mental health programs, foster care systems, and other child and youth support organizations.

What Justifies Federal Funding for these **Programs?**

In 2004, 32,439 individuals died by suicide in the U.S. Of these suicides, more than 4,500 were young people between the ages of 10-24.

Nationally, suicide is the third leading cause of death among children aged 10-14 and among adolescents and young adults aged 15-24.

According to the Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance System, a survey of students across the nation administered by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), in 2005, 16.9 percent seriously considered attempting suicide, 8.4 percent of youth attempted suicide, and 2.3 percent made a suicide attempt that required medical treatment. The National Survey on Drug Use and Health, a separate survey administered by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), found that in 2006, 12.8 percent of youth between the ages of 12 and 17 (approximately 3.2 million youth) experienced at least one Major Depressive Episode (MDE).

Repeatedly over the last several years, the Federal Government has identified suicide as a serious and preventable public health problem. In 1999, the Surgeon General issued a Call to Action to Prevent Suicide, followed in 2001 by the National Strategy for Suicide Prevention: Goals and Objectives for Action (NSSP). The NSSP was developed by a broad public/private partnership and founded on research conducted over four decades. Many of its 11 goals and 68 objectives are aimed at preventing suicide among children and adolescents, and include evidence-based suicide increasing prevention programs in schools, colleges, universities, youth programs, and juvenile justice facilities; promoting training to identify and respond to children and adolescents at risk for suicide; and establishing guidelines for screening and referral. Funding for the Garrett Lee Smith Memorial Act, as authorized by Congress, provides essential support for States and communities seeking to implement the NSSP's objectives.

In 2002, the Institute of Medicine released *Reducing Suicide: A National Imperative*, which provides an authoritative examination of the available data and knowledge about suicide prevention. The report strongly endorsed the Surgeon General's designation of suicide prevention as a national priority and recommended that "programs for suicide prevention be developed, tested, expanded, and implemented through funding from appropriate agencies including NIMH, DVA, CDC, and SAMHSA."

According to the final report of President Bush's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health (2003), "our Nation's failure to prioritize mental health is a national tragedy...No loss is more devastating than suicide. Over 30,000 lives are lost annually to this largely preventable public health problem...Many have not had the care in the months before their death that would help them to affirm life. The families left behind live with shame and guilt..."

Relationship to Other Suicide Prevention Initiatives

CMHS is the lead agency within SAMHSA for the NSSP. CMHS funds two specific suicide prevention

MENTAL HEALTH LIAISON GROUP

initiatives to assist in the implementation of the NSSP. The first initiative is the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline (1-800-273-TALK), a network of more than 120 crisis centers across the country that respond, 24 hours a day, to individuals in emotional distress or suicidal crisis. In 2007, SAMHSA and the Department of Veterans' Affairs partnered to expand the reach of the Lifeline to provide for specialized veteran services. The second initiative is the Suicide Prevention Resource Center, which provides prevention support, training, and materials to strengthen suicide prevention efforts.

These programs have helped put in place the essential building blocks to guide activities at the state and local level that will help reduce the tragic toll of suicide, particularly among our young people. The immediate need is for resources that will enable States and communities to provide the services that can save lives. Additionally, a public/private should be developed by partnership through Administration SAMHSA. Such partnership would do much to address the advancement and implementation of "a national campaign to reduce the stigma of seeking care and a national strategy for suicide prevention.

Addressing the Needs of Children and Adolescents With Post-Traumatic Stress

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$29.5m	\$33.1m	\$15.6m	\$38.0m

How Does Exposure to Violence Affect the Mental Health of Children and Adolescents?

The Surgeon General's landmark 1999 "Report on Mental Health" explored the roots of mental disorders in childhood, and documented the wellestablished relationship between childhood exposure to traumatic events and risk for child mental disorders. This relationship is further underscored by a 2007 report from the Great Smoky Mountains Study (GSMS), a representative longitudinal study of children in the primarily rural western counties of North Carolina. The GSMS report found that by age 16, more than 67.8% of the participants were exposed to one or more traumas, such as child maltreatment, domestic violence, traffic injury, major medical trauma, traumatic loss of a significant other, or sexual assault. Higher levels of trauma exposure were related to higher levels of psychopathology, especially anxiety and depressive disorders, and more functional impairments, such as disruption of important relationships and school problems. Even higher rates of exposure and PTSD have been found among institutionalized children; an NIMH/OJJDP study showed rates of 92 percent for trauma exposure and up to 18 percent experiencing PTSD.

A number of government reports during the last decade have also recognized the impact of violence and trauma on child mental health and development. The Surgeon General's 2001 "Report on Youth Violence" noted that exposure to violence can disrupt normal development of both children and adolescents, with profound effects on mental. physical, and emotional health. As the Surgeon General reported, adolescents exposed to violence are more likely to engage in violent acts themselves. Children are exposed to many kinds of trauma and violence, including physical and sexual abuse, accidental or violent deaths of loved ones, domestic and community violence, natural disasters and terrorism, and severe accidents or life-threatening illnesses. Any of these exposures can have severe and long-term effects. A 2002 GAO Report (GAO-02-813) on child trauma documented that large numbers of children experience trauma-related mental health problems, while at the same time facing barriers to receiving appropriate mental health care. The 2003 report of the President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Heath, "Achieving the Promise: Transforming Mental Health Care in America," identifies trauma as one of four crucial areas where the knowledge base must be expanded as part of mental health system transformation and the improvement of care.

Federal agencies also participate in the documentation of the impact of specific forms of trauma. The U.S. DHHS Child Maltreatment Report from the National Child Abuse and Neglect Data Systems, which annually aggregates state child protection reports, estimated that 906,000 children were confirmed victims of child abuse and neglect in 2003.

The National Incidence Studies (NIS) were mandated by the U.S. Congress to establish the incidence of child maltreatment. To date, there have been three NIS studies conducted and analyzed (results reported in 1981 (NIS-1), 1988 (NIS-2), and 1996 (NIS-3). These three studies represent the 'gold standard' for incidence of child maltreatment and provide the only general population-based, standardized, collection methodology that systematically tracks changes in maltreatment rates over time. The NIS studies use a "sentinel" methodology in which official field observers report all cases of suspected child abuse encountered during a fixed sampling frame. The NIS estimates include children investigated at Child Protective Services agencies, but also include maltreated children who are identified by professionals in a wide range of agencies in representative communities. The most recent National Incidence Study (NIS-3) findings indicated that the total number of abused and neglected children was two-thirds higher in the NIS-3 published report than in the NIS-2 published report.

Exposure to violence and trauma is a daily experience for many children. A 2003 report in the Journal of the American Medical Association reported that of the 4,000 children in the Los Angeles Unified School District included in this study, 90 percent of students in some neighborhoods had been exposed to multiple incidents of violence, as witnesses and victims, and that 27 percent of them had clinical levels of PTSD and 16 percent of them had clinical levels of depression. Without treatment, long-term consequences can result, and without early intervention with children exposed to trauma, the symptoms may re-emerge following a subsequent trauma, and can affect development, physical health, ability to function, and relationships in adulthood. Findings from the Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study and other related studies have shown that adverse childhood experiences predispose children towards negative trajectories from infancy to adolescence that contribute significantly to adult outcomes such as depression, posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), substance abuse, low occupational attainment, and poor health.

Accessibility to treatment that could help with acute symptoms and prevent long-term consequences is problematic. The National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) reported in 2007 that adults who were abused or neglected as children have increased risk of major depression, which often begins in childhood and has lingering effects as they mature. Early diagnosis and treatment of mental disorders that may arise from maltreatment is important to prevent harmful, long-lasting effects on functioning. Unfortunately, treatment is not always accessible to traumatized children. NIMH-supported researchers reported in 2005 that half of all lifetime cases of mental illness begins by age 14, and that despite effective treatments that have been developed, there are long delays – sometimes decades – between first onset of symptoms and when treatment is obtained. The study also found that an untreated mental disorder can lead to more severe, more difficult to treat illness, and to the development of co-occurring mental illnesses. A pattern emerged in this study that suggested that the earlier in life the disorder begins, the greater the gap in time before treatment is obtained. This same study also reported that the majority of those with mental disorders received no treatment at all.

How Can We Address this Problem?

Congress, in the Children's Health Act of 2000 (Public Law 106-310), established the National Child

Traumatic Stress Initiative (NCTSI) to help address the growing problems arising from children and adolescents witnessing or experiencing violence and trauma. These grants fund a national network of child trauma centers, including community service programs to provide services to children and families who are victims or witnesses of violence and trauma, treatment development centers that collaborate closely with community providers development of evidence-based practices and research on the treatment and prevention of traumarelated mental disorders, and a national coordinating and resource center to guide the network's efforts. The NCTSN is working to integrate trauma-informed information, resources, and treatment into all childserving systems, so that these resources become available to children, families, and providers wherever the need occurs.

What Justifies Federal Spending on Post-**Traumatic Stress in Children?**

Despite widespread exposure to trauma and violence and serious consequences for children and youth, recent national traumatic events (natural disasters. school shootings, terrorism) has led to a greater realization that we have failed to provide the resources necessary to strengthen research and services for these children. Expanding funding of the NCTSI program would support and strengthen a broad network of centers of excellence on children, trauma, and violence and would yield improved evaluation tools and evidence-based treatment methods for vulnerable children exposed to violence and trauma. This program will support the further development of treatment and services that will prevent the onset of mental health problems among children and youth who have experienced such The Network also disseminates these trauma-informed evidence-based treatments and services to all child-serving systems (schools, juvenile justice system, child welfare, foster care, etc.).

The Children's Health Act originally authorized the NCTSI program at \$50 million. In its first year, \$10 million was appropriated. In FY 2002, an additional \$20 million was provided to this program; of this, \$10 million came from the Emergency Supplemental Appropriation (PL 107-38) for the recovery efforts after 9/11. The NCTSI grew rapidly from 17 to 54 centers from 2000-2004, with funding at \$30 million. In FY 2005, funding remained at \$30 million, but the level funding (and the loss of the supplemental funds) led to a reduction in the total number of funded centers, from 54 to 45 centers, and the inability to

renew funding for the many experienced trauma professionals in the Network. Further decreases in FY 2006 and FY 2007 led to further reductions in the size of the Network (currently funded at 43 centers). The FY 2008 budget included an increase of funding to \$33.1 million, and may restore some of these losses, but will still fall far short of meeting the national need.

The innovative program has developed a strong, collaborative network of committed community and treatment development centers that work together with child serving systems to help children who have experienced trauma and develop new and more effective interventions. The program has developed training programs, resource materials. interventions, and has a strong internal and external evaluation program in place. Recent yearly estimates indicate that more than 50,000 individuals – children, adolescents and their families - will directly benefit from services through this network, and over 200,000 professionals will be trained in trauma-informed interventions. Over 1000 external partnerships have been established by Network members in their work to integrate trauma-informed services into all childserving systems (such as schools, foster care,

correctional facilities, residential care, shelters, and shelters).

The NCTSI was immediately mobilized in the aftermath of Hurricanes Katrina and Rita in 2005, and deployed staff and disseminated resources, training, and materials throughout the country, serving as a major national resource to the interagency federal response. The Network has served as this kind of national resource in response to many national and regional emergencies. With additional support for the NCTSI, hundreds of thousands more will benefit from the improvements in treatment, the expansion of educational opportunities, the development of community and national collaborative partnerships, the ongoing internal and national program evaluations, and the widespread dissemination of public awareness programs and materials that are made available through the coordinating center (the National Center for Child Traumatic Stress, based at Duke University and UCLA) and the affiliated National Resource Center. The ongoing federal evaluation of this program has determined that it is "exceeding

Mental Health Transformation State Incentive Grant Program

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$26.0m	\$26.0m	\$0.0m	\$29.8m

What Is the Mental Health Transformation State Incentive Grant Program?

The Mental Health Transformation State Incentive Grants (SIGs) support states' efforts to create comprehensive mental health plans and enhance the use of existing resources to serve persons with mental disorders. SAMHSA awarded seven Transformation State Incentive Grants in FY 2005; two additional SIGs were awarded in FY 2006. Grant funds can only be used for infrastructure changes, such as planning, collaborating, blended funding or developing service concepts, and policies and procedures that support a transformation agenda. Funds cannot be used to provide mental health services. Grantees work closely with other agencies, such as criminal justice, housing, child welfare, Medicaid and education.

Why are the State Incentive Grants Important?

Tasked by President Bush to "conduct a comprehensive study of the United States mental health service delivery system, including public and private sector providers, and to advise the President on methods of improving the system," the New Freedom Commission on Mental Health released a groundbreaking report in 2003 that called for a "fundamental transformation" of the mental health system in America. This report observed that programs that serve persons with mental illnesses are fragmented across many levels of government and among many agencies.

According to the New Freedom Commission, a transformed system would have fewer gaps in mental health services, an improved coordinated system of care, no stigma associated with mental health disorders, a system that focuses on building the personal strengths of all individuals who seeks its services, and would use recovery and resilience as

treatment expectations. Consequently, the Commission recommends that states develop comprehensive mental health plans outlining responsibility for coordinating and integrating services provided for persons with mental disorders. The State Incentive Grants give states the resources to develop such plans, and enable them to create new partnerships among the federal, state, and local governments to expand the option and array of available services and supports that mental health consumers and families need, such as housing, vocational rehabilitation and education services.

The success of the State Incentive Grant program will be measured in terms of the implementation of evidence-based practices, particularly those implemented statewide; better use of technology in the keeping of health records and the dissemination of mental health information and services; increased flexibility for the funding of services; increased accountability by states for helping consumers to achieve positive outcomes; and a reduction in gender, ethnic and geographic disparities. These measures of success are consistent with the values set out in the final report of the President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health.

What Justifies Federal Spending for The Transformation State Incentive Grants?

Federal funding for the State Incentive Grants supports states' efforts to develop more comprehensive state mental health plans. These plans facilitate the coordination of federal, state and local resources to support effective and dynamic state infrastructure to best serve persons with mental disorders.

Grants to Provide Integrated Treatment for Co-occurring Serious Mental Illnesses and Substance Abuse Disorders

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$7.53m	\$3.61m	\$0.42m	\$4.14m

What will the Integrated Treatment Program Do?

The Children's Health Act of 2000 authorized Integrated Treatment grants that will support the start-up of innovative programs directed to the special needs of people with co-occurring serious mental illnesses and addictions disorders. These programs stem from a research base that clearly demonstrates that mental and addictions disorders are often inter-related and that integrated treatment is more effective than parallel and sequential treatment for co-occurring disorders. It is necessary to use clinical staff who are cross-trained in the treatment of both kinds of disorder.

For several decades, individuals with mental health and substance abuse disorders have suffered from services plagued with separate regulations, financing, provider education, licensing and credentialing, and eligibility. For this reason, these individuals have often been mistreated and shuffled between services, and have seldom received the comprehensive screening and assessment necessary. Collaborative treatment planning has proven much more productive for individuals with mental health and substance abuse treatment systems.

In many cases people with mental disorders develop chemical dependencies as a result of efforts to self-medicate their illnesses. Many people resort to self-medication with alcohol or other drugs because of a lack of access to appropriate psychotropic medication or because of the serious side effects (such as severe tremors, nausea, and seizures) that some medications can cause. Studies have shown that it is not uncommon for people with serious mental illness to receive too little, too much, or the wrong medication. In resorting to self-medicating, many with mental illness compound their health problems.

Why are the Integrated Treatment Grants Important?

Our country faces a serious treatment gap in addressing the treatment and service needs of people with co-occurring disorders. Although evidence supports integrated treatment for co-occurring disorders, it is only available in a limited number of communities, and the 1999 Surgeon General's Report on Mental Health cites an estimate that 10 million Americans have co-occurring disorders. Individuals with severe levels of co-occurring disorders are more likely to experience a chronic course and to over-utilize health and expensive

emergency room services than are those with either type of disorder alone. Clinicians, program developers, and policy makers need to be aware of these high rates of comorbidity and service use — about 15 percent of those with a mental disorder in 1 year.

Adults with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders represent one of the most challenging populations to serve. They are more likely to be homeless or without stable housing than people with mental illness only, and they are more likely to have interactions with the police and the criminal justice system. They are also more likely to be victims of street crime.

What Justifies Federal Spending for Integrated Treatment Grants?

Publicly-funded mental health and addictions treatment programs in the states — such as those that ultimately receive federal funding through Mental Health and Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment block grants — are often housed in separate "administrative silos." Providers often work in separate mental health and substance abuse treatment systems within a single state. These separate systems often have different requirements for facility licensure, certification of clinical staff, and the MIS systems and data required to bill for publicly-funded services. As a result, significant bureaucratic hurdles exist for providers who wish to provide both kinds of services. In states like Pennsylvania and Massachusetts, the challenges confronted by pioneering integrated treatment programs established at the community level led state policy makers to address the bureaucratic obstacles to such programs in their systems.

In 2000, Congress, recognizing the need to reach this difficult to serve population with the best known treatment, authorized funding for integrated treatment for co-occurring mental health and substance abuse disorders. Unfortunately, the Children's Health Act of 2000 specifically bars states from blending dollars from the Mental Health and Substance Abuse Block Grants to fund integrated treatment programs. It is therefore critically important that Congress direct funding toward integrated treatment to make up for funding that the states cannot provide through their SAMHSA block grant programs.

Jail Diversion Program Grants

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$6.93m	\$6.80m	\$3.90m	\$7.80m

Why are Jail Diversion Program Grants Important?

Each year, 11.4 million people are booked into U.S. jails. An estimated seven percent of jail inmates have current symptoms of serious mental illness. Of these 800,000 people approximately three-quarters have co-occurring substance use disorders. Approximately 63 percent of State prisoners with mental health problems used drugs the month before their arrest, 14 percent higher than those without a mental health problem. Women, who represent 11 percent of all jail inmates, have nearly twice the rate of serious mental illness as men (12 percent vs. 6.4 percent). Another study reported that likewise female inmates have demonstrated significantly higher rates of mental health problems than male inmates (State prisons: 73 percent of females and 55 percent of males; local jails: 75 percent of females and 63 percent of males. A U.S. Department of Justice study reported that 16 percent of the population in prison or jail has a mental illness. Additionally, inmates with mental health problems also demonstrated significantly higher rates of homelessness and sexual abuse history. Across the country, communities are struggling with the alarming increase of people with mental illness in jails and prisons:

- The Los Angeles County Jail, the Cook County (Chicago) Jail, and Riker's Island (New York City) each hold more people with mental illness on any given day than any psychiatric facility in the United States;
- Male pretrial detainees charged with misdemeanors and identified as psychotic in the Fairfax County VA Jail stayed in jail 6.5 times as long as average jail inmates; and
- Nearly a quarter of both State prisoners and jail inmates with a mental health problem, compared to a fifth of those without, had served 3 or more prior incarcerations

What are Jail Diversion Program Grants?

Mental health providers, criminal justice professionals, and judges believe that nearly all these arrests and incarcerations are unnecessary and could

be avoided if more community mental health services were available. In 2003, the President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health recently recommended "widely adopting adult criminal justice and juvenile justice diversion...strategies to avoid the unnecessary criminalization and extended incarceration of non-violent adult and juvenile offenders with mental illnesses." Jail diversion programs provide an alternative to incarceration by diverting individuals with serious mental illness and co-occurring substance use disorders from jail to community-based treatment and support services. Currently, the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA)-funded Technical Assistance and Policy Analysis Center for Jail Diversion (TAPA) lists over 300 operating jail diversion programs nationally. Currently, only 1 in 3 State prisoners and 1 in 6 jail inmates with mental health problems had received treatment since admission. These programs include a variety of prebooking programs, which divert individuals at initial contact with law enforcement officers before formal charges are brought, and post-booking programs, which identify individuals in jail or in court for diversion at some point after arrest and booking. Jail diversion programs link individuals to communitybased mental health and substance abuse services, housing, medical care, income supports, employment and other necessary services.

What Justifies Federal Spending on this **Program?**

The SAMHSA-funded Knowledge Development and Application (KDA) study found that:

- Jail Diversion "works" by reducing time spent in jail, as evidenced by diverted participants spending an average of two months more in the community; (overall, the mean time state prisoners who had a mental health problem expected to serve was 4 months longer than State prisoners without a mental health problem.
- Inmates with mental illness in Pennsylvania in 2000 were twice as likely as other inmates to serve their maximum sentence; those with

- a serious mental illness were three times as likely to "max out."
- At midyear 2005 more than half of all prison and jail inmates had a mental health problem, including 705,600 inmates in State prisons, 70,200 in Federal Prisons, and 479,900 in local jails.
- Jail diversion does not increase public safety risk; and
- Jail diversion programs successfully link those diverted to community-based services.

An estimated 70 percent of State prisoners, who had a mental health problem compared to 76 percent without, said they were employed in the month before their arrest. Among Federal prisoners, 68 percent of those who had a mental health problem

were employed, compared to 76 percent of those who did not have a mental problem.

Taken together with the findings from previous studies on jail diversion, these findings provide evidence that jail diversion results in positive outcomes for individuals, systems, and communities. These Targeted Capacity Expansion Jail Diversion Program grants, awarded by CMHS since 2002, are currently allowing communities across the country to identify for diversion and link individuals to the evidence-based services and supports they need. The Jail Diversion Program should continue based not only on its efficacy, but on the need for people inappropriately warehoused in jails to receive effective appropriate and community-based treatment.

Mental Health Outreach and Treatment to the Elderly

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$4.95m	\$4.86m	\$0.0m	\$5.6m

What is the Program?

The Mental Health Outreach and Treatment to the Elderly program provides for implementation of evidence-based practices to reach older adults who require assistance for mental disorders, only a small percentage of whom currently receive needed treatment and services. This program is a necessary step to begin to address the discrepancy between the growing numbers of older Americans who require mental health services and the lack of evidence-based treatment available to them. It should be noted that normal aging is not characterized by mental or cognitive disorders.

Although \$4,860,000 was allocated for evidence-based mental health outreach and treatment to the elderly in FY 2008, this allocation falls short because there will be approximately 40 million people in the U.S. over the age of 65 and more than 20 percent of them will experience mental disorders by the year 2010. The program, at its inception in FY 2002, was funded at \$5 million, so current funding has fallen behind in both real and constant dollars. The Administration is proposing to eliminate funding for this program in FY 2009.

Why is it Important to Reach Out and Treat the Elderly

- 1. Disability due to mental illness in individuals over 65 years old will become a major public health problem in the near future because of demographic changes. In particular, dementia, depression, and schizophrenia, among other conditions, will all present special problems in this age group:
 - Dementia produces significant dependency and is a leading contributor to the need for costly long-term care in the last years of life; and
 - Depression contributes to the high rates of suicide among males in this population; and schizophrenia continues to be disabling in spite of recovery of function by some individuals in mid to late life.
- Older individuals can benefit from the advances in psychotherapy, medication, and other treatment interventions for younger adults, when these interventions are modified for age and health status.
- 3. Primary care practitioners are a critical link in identifying and addressing mental disorders in

- older adults. Opportunities are missed to improve mental health and general medical outcomes when mental illness is under recognized and under treated in primary care settings.
- 4. Treating older adults with mental disorders accrues other benefits to overall health by improving the interest and ability of individuals to care for themselves and follow their primary care provider's directions and advice, particularly about taking medications.
- Stressful life events, such as declining health and/or the loss of mates, family members, or friends often increase with age. However, persistent bereavement or serious depression is not "normal" and should be treated.

What Justifies Federal Spending for this Initiative?

As the life expectancy of Americans continues to increase, the sheer number, although not necessarily the proportion, of persons experiencing mental disorders of late life will expand. This trend confronts our society with unprecedented challenges in organizing, financing, and delivering effective mental health services for this population. An essential part of the needed societal response will include recognizing and devising innovative ways of supporting the increasingly more prominent role that families are assuming in caring for older, mentally impaired and mentally ill members.

In December 2005, the White House Conference on Aging included in its top 10 resolutions a recommendation to "Improve recognition, assessment and treatment of mental illness and depression among older Americans."

The greatest challenge for the future of mental health care for older Americans is to bridge the gap between scientific knowledge and clinical practice in the community, and to translate research into patient care. Adequate funding for this mental health service initiative is essential to disseminate and implement evidence-based practices for the treatment of older adults in routine clinical settings across the country.

Statewide Family Network Grants

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$3.40m	\$3.34m	\$0.0m	\$3.83m

What Do the Statewide Family Networks Do?

The Statewide Family Networks Grants program enhances the capacity of States by providing additional infrastructure focused on the needs of children and adolescents with serious emotional disturbances and their families. This program is designed to support families and youth as primary decision makers in the transformation of the child-serving systems in their State. Grantees accomplish this by supporting families and youth to use their experiential expertise and informing other key decision makers about the experiences of children and youth with mental health needs and their families.

Grantees work in tandem with community coalitions, policymakers, program administrators, and service providers. Grantees promote leadership and provide management skills for boards and staff of their agencies. By providing technical assistance, grantees are the nation's foundation for shaping a better quality of life for children with mental health needs and their families. Several grantees in this program specifically focus on the needs of ethnic minorities and eliminating the additional challenges experienced by families who live in rural areas. Statewide Family Network activities are all critical to supporting the implementation of "Transforming Mental Health Care in America: the Federal Action Agenda:"

Developing and conducting peer support groups helps families: address issues of stigma, shame, guilt, and blame; learn how to constructively and successfully manage their own child's disorder; and actively participate in care planning for themselves and their child:

Disseminating information and technical assistance through clearinghouses, websites, newsletters, sponsoring conferences and conducting workshops changes attitudes, reduces stigma and discrimination, transfers knowledge, and links families, resources, and child serving agencies;

Providing outreach to families through toll-free telephone numbers and through information and referral networks prepares youth and family members

to participate as effective and primary decision makers able to obtain needed services and supports;

Serving as a liaison with various human service agencies and educating states and communities about effective ways to improve children's services, include families and youth in decisions that impact their lives, and inform providers about emotional disorders and services, including need for care, access to services, and effectiveness of treatments; and

Training skills for effective advocacy for children's services and successful organizational management and financial independence.

Why Are Statewide Family Network Grants Important?

Families raising children with emotional, behavioral, or mental disorders need emotional support, accurate information about mental health services, and help protecting the rights of their children. Research on systems of care has indicated that strengthening families enhances resilience in children. Yet the Administration proposes to eliminate funding for this program in FY 2009.

The Surgeon General recognized that families have become essential partners in the delivery of mental health services to children and adolescents. Familyrun organizations linked to a national network are the means by which families can fulfill this important role. Goal 2 of the final report of the President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health envisions a transformed mental health system that is "consumer and family driven" and declares that, "Local, State, and Federal authorities must encourage consumers and families to participate in planning and evaluating treatment and support services." Federal Action Agenda, developed by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration to implement the Commission's recommendations. states very clearly that, "A keystone of the transformation process will be the protection and respect of the rights of adults with mental illnesses, children with serious emotional disturbances, and

their parents." Family-run organizations are the means by which families can fully realize these important decrees.

Evidence of Effectiveness

A study of the impact of the Statewide Family Network Grants groups the benefits received into three categories:

- 1. Information on legal rights, specific disorders, and resources;
- 2. Emotional support consisting of parent-to-parent sharing, understanding and friendship, staff as advocates to support families, and training for advocacy at a higher policy level; and
- 3. Practical services including workshops, financial support and respite care.

Family members interviewed for the study felt that they were better able to advocate for their children, were more in control of their lives, and were able to make lasting changes because of the help and support that they received through the statewide family networks.

In the Government and Performance and Results Act (GPRA) report for 2006-2007, the Statewide Family Network grantees reported providing at least one service to 391,782 unduplicated family members and youth. In the same period, 38 grantees reported that family members and youth held 4,921 seats on numerous policy, planning and service delivery decision-making groups.

Examples of Effectiveness

Statewide Family Networks have contributed to the overall improvement of state and community children's mental health policies and services in many ways. **Some examples are:**

- AK Alaska Youth and Family Network is demonstrating positive outcomes of youth and family peer-to-peer services while scientifically documenting the same.
- MD The Maryland Coalition developed four new curricula to train families to be effective partners in Maryland's systems of care for children with mental health needs.
- NV Nevada Collaborating for Children participated in training first responders with Crisis Intervention (CIT) Training, including juvenile justice staff, law enforcement officers, and emergency medical teams serving children with mental health issues and their families.
- NY Families Together increased their outreach through 10 Regional Chapters, resulting in involvement in policy making, research, program design and implementation, and service delivery to families and youth with special emotional, behavioral, and social needs.
- WI Wisconsin Family Ties has partnered with a rap group and developed a video with music to address stigma and build public understanding regarding issues facing youth with mental health care needs.
- WY UPLIFT has successfully developed statewide partnerships integrating mental health services into some of the country's most remote areas and reaching children, youth and families that would not otherwise have received help.

Statewide Consumer Network Grants

 FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$1.50m	\$1.47m	\$0.0m	\$1.69m

What Do the Statewide Consumer Networks Do?

The Statewide Consumer Network Grants (SCNGs) enhance State capacity and infrastructure by supporting consumer organizations. The SCNGs ensure that consumers are the catalysts for transforming the mental health and related systems in their state and for making recovery and resiliency the expectation and not the exception.

These small, three-year grants provide crucial resources for grass-roots development. They give consumers hope by reaching out to this disenfranchised population. The funding helps people find their voice and feel empowered to bring about systemic mental health transformation in line with the recommendations from the President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health.

Grantees use these resources to address stigma, reduce mental health disparities, prevent criminalization, promote self-care and peer-support, develop statewide infrastructure to promote positive changes in the state's public mental health system, encourage business and management skill development and help address gaps in services.

These grants help consumers promote the development of systems of care that help consumers live independently and productively in the community so they can rely less on the traditional mental health provider, move out of institutions and into the community (in line with the Supreme Courts' Olmstead decision), and avoid inappropriate use of inpatient services.

Approximately \$1.5 million is provided to support 19 grantees at \$70,000 each per year. The Administration's budget proposes to eliminate funds for this program in FY 2009. This will result in a major loss in mental health transformation efforts and will significantly curtail the efforts of grass-roots consumers to promote systems change.

Why are the Statewide Consumer Networks Important?

The goals of the program are to: (1) strengthen organizational relationships; (2) promote skill

development with an emphasis on leadership and business management; and (3) identify technical assistance needs of consumers and provide training and support to ensure that they are the catalysts for transforming the mental health and related systems.

For example, the SCNGs:

- Educate the public that mental health care is essential to overall health by conducting education campaigns that increase knowledge and consciousness about mental health care, and convening Leadership Academies, BRIDGES Programs, Consumer Support Specialists and Peer Support Activity that promote and sustain leadership skills;
- Promote consumer and family driven care through the development of position papers and/or impact statements to courts, local mental health councils and state administrators on systems needs and creative funding and providing outcomes based training that strengthens organizational relationships, promotes consumer leadership and develops local consumer councils throughout states;
- Demonstrate interest in the elimination of disparities in mental health services by developing regional partnerships that overlap with existing service needs and developing media and training materials that are culturally appropriate to consumers of various ethnic groups;
- Promote recovery and resilience through self-help models by incorporating the Wellness Recovery Action Plan (WRAP), leadership academies and self-help models into training programs and partnering with academic institutions to assist in the development and evaluation of self-help models, vocational training and innovative ways to promote mental health recovery; and
- Promote the use of technology to access mental health care and information by implementing technological advances to disseminate information statewide and nationally, and creating interactive websites that allow consumers to exchange information, learn about recovery, and sustain recovery through self-help models.

Consumer and Consumer-Support Technical Assistance Centers

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$1.98m	\$1.95m	\$0.0m	\$2.24m

What are the Consumer and Consumer-Support Technical Assistance Centers?

Consumer and Consumer-Support Technical Assistance Center grants provide technical assistance to consumers, families, and supporters of consumers with the aim of helping people with severe mental illnesses decrease their dependence on social services, avoid psychiatric hospitalization, and live meaningful lives in the community. This technical assistance is directed both to individuals and to community-based organizations run by people recovering from psychiatric disabilities and/or their supporters:

- Individuals are taught skills to help them use community resources, recover from the disabling effects of mental illness, and enhance self-determination; and
- Organizations receive assistance that enhances their capacity to meet operational and programmatic needs. Program support focuses on enhancing peer-support approaches, recovery models, and employment programs.

Why are Consumer and Consumer-Supporter Technical Assistance Centers Important?

Despite the fact that the importance of supporting and promoting mental health consumer-run services was recognized in the report of the President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health, the Administration proposes to eliminate funding for this program in FY 2009. The 2003 report of the President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health and the Surgeon General's 1999 report, Mental Health: A Report of the Surgeon General, declared recovery from mental illnesses the goal of the nation's mental health system. It also pointed to evidence of the important role played by consumerrun organizations in achieving this goal. In addition, the Surgeon General's report found that consumers in the role of peer specialists, and peer support services

in general, provide services that improve outcomes for people with mental illnesses.

Furthermore, a recently published report by the Center for Mental Health Services (CMHS), entitled *Consumer/Survivor-Operated Self-Help Programs*, noted that consumer/survivor-operated programs have provided such benefits as coping strategies, role modeling, peer support and education in a non-stigmatizing setting. In assessing the experience of consumer-run services, the CMHS report found that consumer-run program sites had technical assistance needs:

- More training and technical assistance would contribute to increased successes; and
- Respondents felt that coordinated, comprehensive approaches to meeting technical assistance needs would be beneficial.

Funding was not provided for this program in the Administration's request for FY 2009.

What Justifies Federal Spending on this **Program?**

A CMHS-funded evaluation in 2001 found that the centers serve an impressive number of consumers, consumer-supporters, and organizations. It also found that these recipients of technical assistance have high levels of satisfaction with the quality of services provided. According to the study, conducted by the Kentucky Center for Mental Health Studies, in a single month staff at the centers provided assistance to 2,202 individuals and organizations. Among the technical assistance recipients, 96 percent "liked the quality of services they received" and 97 percent "would contact [a center] again for additional information and assistance." More recent evaluations are expected to find similar levels of satisfaction. Funding national technical assistance centers to advance recovery and self-help goals puts mental health care dollars to use where they have significant impact and proven effectiveness.

Community Action Grants

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$0.0m	\$0.0m	\$0.0m	\$1.5m

What are Community Action Grants?

The Community Action Grant Program, started in FY1999, provides one year awards that support communities to implement evidence-based exemplary practices that serve adults with serious mental illness and children and adolescents with serious emotional disorders. Phase I is directed at achieving consensus among stakeholders to implement the practice in their community or state. Phase II supports the actual implementation of the practice with funds for training and other non-direct services.

Why are Community Action Grants Important?

As our knowledge of mental illness has steadily increased, Americans' access to care has paradoxically shrunk. Community Action Grants are a catalyst for local communities to improve mental-health service delivery by implementing proven, evidenced-based practices for adults with serious mental illnesses and children with

serious emotional disorders. Since these grants are designed to implement effective community-based services, discontinuing these grants has the potential to hinder the movement of mental health services from institution-based care to community-based care.

What Justifies Federal Spending on this **Program?**

The Community Action Grants Program builds community-based consensus for adoption of identified exemplary mental health service delivery practices, and provides technical assistance to spur adoption into practice, and synthesizes and disseminates new knowledge about effective approaches to the provision of comprehensive community-based services to persons with serious mental illnesses.

Congress did not fund the Community Action Grants in FY 2005, FY 2006, FY 2007, and FY 2008.

Minority Fellowship Program

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$3.8m	\$3.73m	\$0.0m	\$4.28m

What is the Minority Fellowship Program?

The Minority Fellowship Program of the SAMHSA Center for Mental Health Services (CMHS) helps to reduce racial and ethnic disparities in mental health status and to improve the quality of mental health services for minority populations. It provides training minority mental health professionals to offer culturally competent, accessible mental health and substance abuse services for diverse populations.

Unfortunately, the Administration's FY 2009 funding request proposes to eliminate funding for the program, which last received \$3.73 million in FY 2008.

Why is the Minority Fellowship Program Important?

The Surgeon General's Report, *Mental Health: Culture, Race and Ethnicity*, as well as the Bush Administration's *President's New Freedom Commission on Mental Health* identified the existence of health disparities in the mental health system, with minorities receiving less mental health treatment and of a lower quality. A major recommendation in these reports was to increase funding for training minority mental health professionals and to train mental health professionals to become culturally competent.

Severe shortages of mental health professionals often arise in underserved areas due to the difficulty of recruitment and retention in the public sector. Studies have shown that ethnic minority mental health professionals practice in underserved areas at a higher rate than non-minorities. Furthermore, a direct positive relationship exists between the numbers of ethnic minority mental health

professionals and the utilization of needed services by ethnic minorities.

What Justifies Federal Spending on this **Program?**

Minorities currently represent 30 percent of our nation's population and are projected to account for 40 percent in 2025. To ensure that minorities have access to culturally sensitive and effective mental health services, federal support for programs that train all eligible behavioral health professionals is vital.

The mental health needs of ethnic minorities in the United States have been, and continue to be, grossly underserved. The available assistance often does not answer the pressing needs of those being served. At its inception in the 1970's, the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) Minority Fellowship Program (MFP) was to create a nucleus of ethnic minority mental health practitioners trained at the doctoral equipped to provide and leadership, consultation, training, and administration to those public mental health agencies and organizations particularly concerned with the development and implementation of programs and services for ethnic minority clients and communities.

The SAMHSA/CMHS Minority Fellowship Programs has succeeded in educating many ethnic minority mental health professionals and in producing leaders in mental health field. It is critical to continue to provide clinical training support to address the shortage of mental health care providers to better serve minority and underserved populations.

The CMHS Minority Fellowship Program is a cost effective way to address some of our most serious public health challenges and should be continued and expanded.

Mental Health Research

Fiscal Year 2009 Funding Recommendations

for the

National Institute of Mental Health
National Institute on Drug Abuse, and
National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism

National Institutes of Health (NIH)

The National Institutes of Health (NIH) is the world's premier medical and behavioral research institution, supporting more than 50,000 scientists at 1,700 research universities, medical schools, teaching hospitals, independent research institutions, and industrial organizations throughout the United States. It is comprised of 27 distinct institutes, centers and divisions.

Each of the NIH Institutes and centers was created by Congress with an explicit mission directed to the advancement of an aspect of the biomedical and behavioral sciences. An institute or center's focal point may be a given disease, a particular organ, or a stage of development. The three Institutes which focus their research on mental illness and addictive disorders are the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH), the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA), and the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA).

The NIH was reauthorized at the end of the 109th Congress via the National Institutes of Health Reform Act of 2006, P. L. 109-482.

National Institutes of Health (NIH)

Director: Elias Zerhouni, MD (301) 496-4000

Fiscal Year 2009 Funding Recommendations

for the

National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH)

National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH)

The mission of the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) is to reduce the burden of mental and behavioral disorders through research on mind, brain, and behavior. Mental illnesses are fundamentally brain disorders that affect children, adolescents, and adults. Each year, more than 54 million people experience significant symptoms caused by mental disorders. This equates to one in every 20 adults who experience a disabling mental disorder. Of the 10 leading causes of disability in the United States and internationally for ages 15-44, four are mental disorders including major depression, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and obsessive-compulsive disorder. Left untreated, a mental disorder can lead to more severe and more difficult to treat illness, and to the development of co-occurring mental disorders.

In keeping with its mission, NIMH is currently developing a Strategic Plan to guide future research efforts. The overarching objectives of the Strategic Plan are to promote discovery in the brain and behavioral sciences to fuel research on the causes of mental disorders; chart mental illness trajectories to determine when, where and how to intervene; develop new and better interventions that incorporate the diverse needs and circumstances of people with mental disorders; and strengthen the public health impact of NIMH-supported research. The public health mandate demands that NIMH harness science to achieve the fundamental understanding of how mental disorders begin and progress, to discover new treatments, and eventually prevent and cure them.

National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) Director: Thomas Insel, MD (301) 443-3675 Constituency Relations and Public Liaison Acting Director: Alison Bennett (301) 443-3673

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$1,403.6m	\$1,404.5m	\$1,407.0m	\$1,498.6m

National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH)

Basic Scientific Research

Innovative research and research training supported by NIMH have made great progress in revealing the complexities of mental disorders. With the completion of the Human Genome Project, researchers can begin to understand how genes give rise to basic biological functions, and how disruptions in function can lead to mental and behavioral disorders—and vice versa. Over the past decade, scientists have come to realize that the relationship between genes and disease is complex. Research suggests that it is unlikely there is a single gene responsible for causing any particular mental disorder. Instead, it is likely that multiple genes and environmental influences together contribute to complex disorders such as autism, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder. In addition, researchers have yet to discover how epigenetic mechanisms—ways that the environment influences gene function—factor into the etiology of these disorders.

The NIMH Program on Human Genetics, Epigenetics, and Genomics funds research to identify gene variants and epigenetic mechanisms and interactions that contribute to risk for mental and behavioral disorders. Recent research on gene variation has yielded promising possibilities for future study. Research suggests that specific gene variations may influence how well different ethnic groups, and people within the same ethnic group, respond to various antipsychotic medications; and may raise the risk of developing mental disorders, such as autism, when variations are inherited from a particular parent. This work has enabled researchers to predict a certain degree of vulnerability and risk factors associated with mental illnesses and will eventually give us the tools to validate diagnosis, and identify targets for new, effective, and personalized treatments.

Another important accomplishment is the NIMH Human Genetics Initiative (http://nimhgenetics.org), which established a repository of DNA, cell cultures, and clinical data and serves as a national resource for researchers studying the genetics of complex mental

disorders. As a result of building this genetics repository, NIMH investigators are able to participate in the Genetic Association Information Network (GAIN). Advancements in gene sequencing promise to yield a great deal of information at a reduced cost. Using samples collected from previous clinical studies, GAIN will evaluate the subtle differences that determine how genetic variability contributes to disease susceptibility. The resulting data will be made available in a central database managed by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) for no-cost access by the scientific community. Of the six initial studies receiving funding through GAIN, four will target mental disorders: schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, major depression, and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder.

Clinical Research

NIMH is committed to translating the discoveries made in scientific research into clinical practices that will predict who is at risk for disease; pre-empt the disease process by developing interventions; personalize interventions based on knowledge of individual biological, environmental, and social factors; and increase participation in clinical trials. To ensure the success of the clinical research program, NIMH assigns high priority to research ethics including the process of informed consent.

NIMH has made great strides in moving the science from the laboratory and into clinical settings. The Institute has completed several practical clinical trials involving more than 10,000 patients at over 200 sites. These trials examined treatment effectiveness for mental disorders such as schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and depression. To continue the collaborations forged through the trials, the Institute established the NIMH Clinical Trials Networks. These networks of clinical sites continue to serve as an extensive resource for more rapid initiation of research aimed at answering the real world questions involved in treating mental disorders, such as better ways to determine the likelihood of an individual patient developing adverse side effects from specific medications. The NIMH Clinical Trials Network



consists of three individual networks - The Schizophrenia Trials Network, the Bipolar Trials Network, and the Depression Trials Network. These networks inter-connect with other NIH disease networks to accomplish the broader goals of NIHcreating multidisciplinary teams that work toward improving patients' quality of life and the nation's overall public health.

Post Traumatic Stress Disorder

The NIMH Traumatic Stress Research Program funds research to understand the causes of Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), to determine risk and protective factors for developing PTSD, and to develop predictive diagnostics and treatment interventions. Over the past several years, researchers have made rapid progress in understanding the mental and biological foundations of PTSD, including the brain's fear circuitry, making the prediction and prevention of PTSD a realistic goal. NIMH is collaborating with the Department of Defense and the Department of Veterans Affairs to support initiatives on traumatic stress disorders. also recently reissued a Program NIMH Announcement, "Rapid Assessment Post-Impact of Disaster" and funds a Disaster Mental Health Research Center for interdisciplinary researchers to conduct innovative and high-impact disaster mental health studies in the wake of emergency events. In addition, NIMH is supporting an initiative to develop and test preemptive interventions to prevent the development of trauma-related disorders among those occupational groups at high risk for trauma exposure, such as firefighters, police officers, rescue workers, and military personnel.

In FY2009, with sufficient funds, NIMH plans to launch an initiative to develop reliable and practical tools for determining risk for developing PTSD. Results from this initiative may help differentiate between trauma survivors who require early preemptive interventions and those who are likely to recover without assistance.

Rapid Treatments for Mood Disorders

The NIMH Intramural Research Program has made significant progress in integrating information about the molecular, cellular, and circuit changes that occur during both major depression and its remission. This information has been combined with new knowledge about genes that create vulnerabilities to depression. The result has been the identification of targets that permit the rational development of new medications that have the potential to cause the rapid reversal of depression. Such a rapid effect had only been seen in

the past through electroconvulsive treatment which has major side effects. Now proof-of-concept trials have shown that these targets indeed hold promise for a new generation of more rapid and effective treatments for a disorder that causes one of the highest disease burdens in America.

In FY 2009 sufficient funding will allow more rapid evaluation and proof-of-concept trials to develop new medications, as well as advance our ability to search for new methods to prevent the onset of major depression for vulnerable populations, including combat troops.

Enhancing Collaboration through Autism Centers of Excellence

Over the past several years, the NIMH autism research portfolio has expanded significantly. Much of this expansion has been through collaborations with multiple NIH Institutes, including the National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD), the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS), the National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (NIDCD). and the National Institute Environmental Health Sciences (NIEHS). Together, these Institutes have created The Autism Centers of Excellence (ACE) research centers and networks to enhance the coordination and focus of autism researchers throughout the country.

To facilitate data sharing among autism researchers, NIH, led by NIMH, has created the National Database for Autism Research (NDAR). All ACE programs will contribute data to NDAR, a web-based tool that will allow scientists to share data, as well as reach consensus on common measures and methodologies to enhance the comparison of data among various centers. NDAR will also coordinate data with other Federal databases, such as the NIMH Genetics Repository (http://www.nimhgenetics.org/). NIMH also has funded the NIMH Center for Genomic and Phenomic Studies for Autism to expand the autism sample collection for studies to elucidate the causes of autism and to develop baseline data for future clinical trials.

In FY 2009, the NIMH intramural program will continue its new focus on autism spectrum disorders, taking a multidisciplinary approach to the evaluation and treatment of children, adolescents, and adults. The program is conducting three major clinical studies on autism and related disorders, such as Rett syndrome, to understand the causes of these disorders and develop new treatments.

Fiscal Year 2009 Funding Recommendations

for the

National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA)

Drug abuse and addiction are a major burden to society; economic costs alone are estimated to exceed half a trillion dollars annually in the United States—including health, crime-related costs, and losses in productivity. However, as staggering as these numbers are, they provide a limited perspective of the devastating consequences of this disease.

Addiction is a chronic disease that can last a lifetime absent proper treatment. Moreover, addiction and other mental disorders often cooccur and should be treated together. Ignorance of or failure to treat one disorder can jeopardize the chances of a successful intervention for the other(s). We do not know enough yet to predict precisely whether one disorder will lead to the other, or how to prevent comorbidity. But we do know that mental disorders are risk factors for subsequent drug abuse, and that chronic drug abuse can lead to mental disorders. We also know that correct diagnosis is critical for optimizing treatment effectiveness for both. New studies examining this issue aim to develop interventions for people with co-morbidities, including children with mental health disorders or those involved with the criminal justice system.

The ultimate aim of our Nation's investment in drug abuse research is to enable society to prevent drug abuse and addiction and to reduce these adverse individual, social, health, and economic consequences. As the world's foremost supporter of research on the health aspects of drug abuse and addiction, NIDA brings the force of science to bear in addressing this important national goal. NIDA then strives to ensure the swift and effective dissemination of the results of that research to significantly improve prevention and treatment efforts.

National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA)
Director: Nora D. Volkow, MD (301) 443-6480
Office of Science Policy and Communications
Director, Timothy P. Condon, Ph.D. (301) 443-6036
Public Liaison, Geoffrey Laredo (301) 443-6036

National Inst	itute on I	Drug Ab	use (NIDA)
---------------	------------	---------	------------

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$1,000.0m	\$1,000.7m	\$1,000.2m	\$1,067.7m

Background

In 2006, 20.4 million Americans or 8.3 percent of the population aged 12 or older were current (past month) illicit drug users (2006 National Survey on Drug Use and Health, SAMHSA). This rate has remained relatively unchanged since 2002, signifying that work needs to be done.

NIDA-supported scientific advances over the past three decades have revolutionized our understanding of drug abuse and addiction, informing the development of more effective prevention and treatment approaches. NIDA is committed to the principle that addiction is a preventable and treatable disease. Close collaborations with other stakeholders help to bring this message—backed by science—to communities across the country. These efforts educate and inform diverse populations and help diminish the stigma associated with this disease so that more people can seek treatment.

To confront the most pressing aspects of this complex disease and to tackle its underlying causes, NIDA relies on a multi-pronged approach that takes advantage of research programs in the basic and clinical neurosciences, including genetics, functional neuroimaging, and social neuroscience; medication and behavioral therapies; prevention; and health services. NIDA's comprehensive research portfolio continues to address the most essential questions about drug abuse, ranging from understanding how drugs work in the brain to developing and testing new treatment and prevention approaches to detecting and responding to emerging drug use trends. New knowledge about addiction and the multiplicity of biological, behavioral, and social factors that influence it continue to emerge.

Decades of research progress have positioned NIDA to take advantage of accumulated research findings by applying new tools, techniques, and knowledge that are helping to change the way we address drug addiction in this country. Innovative use of brain imaging technologies allows us to literally see in "real-time" how drugs affect the brain and influence decision-making. Advances in genetics are

identifying genes of vulnerability or protection so that interventions can be tailored for the greatest impact. And because we know that addiction results from the complex interplay of drugs, genes, and environmental and developmental factors, NIDA has made the study of these interactions a priority, joining with other Institutes and organizations to support relevant research. Particularly relevant to substance abuse is the social environment, as genetic and imaging studies continue to reveal how the interplay of biological (i.e., genes, developmental stage) and social influences (i.e., family, peers, culture) affect individual choices and decisions about drugs. This knowledge is crucial to our future ability to tailor prevention interventions to address the risk areas of a given individual.

NIDA also continues to support research and dissemination activities to identify and test effective interventions. NIDA's Drug Abuse Treatment Clinical Trials Network (CTN) plays a key role in bringing evidence-based treatments to community settings by testing the effectiveness of new interventions and by training providers to implement them and promote their acceptance and adoption in the community. This process not only involves treatment practitioners in formulating research protocols, but also in providing real-world feedback on their success and feasibility. NIDA is taking a similar approach to enhance treatment for drugaddicted individuals involved with the criminal justice system through its CJ-DATS (Criminal Justice-Drug Abuse Treatment Studies) initiative, an inter-agency collaboration aimed at bringing new treatment models into the criminal justice system to improve outcomes for drug-abusing offenders. These programs allow NIDA to exploit an open-channel communication approach with relevant stakeholders to collect information on how to generalize and further enhance treatments to make them more community/justice system friendly. Thanks to this process, NIDA can identify obstacles to the implementation of treatment protocols, thereby optimizing various treatment approaches.



NIDA also monitors drug use patterns and trends to stay on top of emerging threats. A long-standing tool in this regard is the annual Monitoring the Future Survey (MTF) of 8th, 10th, and 12th graders, supported by NIDA. Recent survey results show a 24-percent decline among the three grades combined in recent abuse (i.e., during the past month) of "any illicit drug" between 2001 and 2007 (see figure).

But drug abuse applies to more than illegal substances, including cigarette smoking and nonmedical use of prescription drugs and over-thecounter medications. While cigarette smoking shows a positive downward trend—at the lowest rate in the survey's history—such is not the case for prescription and over-the-counter drugs.

- Prescription drug abuse has been on the rise in teens and young adults for the last several years, and now represents 5 of the top 10 most commonly reported abused drugs by high school seniors—marijuana being number 1. In 2007, 15.4 percent of 12th graders reported using a prescription drug non-medically within the past vear.1
- The non-medical use of over-the-counter cough or cold medicines also continues to be a problem, with nearly 6 percent of 12th graders reporting past year abuse of these medicines to get high.

Priority Research Areas

Learning more about the adolescent brain. Because adolescence is typically when drug abuse and addiction take hold, NIDA continues to focus research on this vulnerable period of development. Given that the brains of adolescents have not fully developed, including the connections between brain areas involved with emotions and areas involved with judgment and decision-making, adolescents are less able to exert inhibitory control over emotions and desires and are hence more likely to engage in risky behaviors, including drug experimentation. However, the brain at this stage is also inherently more plastic, which offers opportunities for prevention interventions that could lead to greater resilience.

In search of promising new targets for antiaddiction medications. Medications development is an important focus for NIDA and one that offers exciting opportunities even while it presents ongoing challenges. A major one is the limited pharmaceutical industry involvement in developing and testing potential addiction medications, which makes it critical for NIDA to be able to pursue and test newly defined targets for different drugs of abuse. Indeed, NIDA supports multiple trials of promising medications to counter addiction, focusing on marijuana and stimulants, including methamphetamine.

Capitalizing on breakthrough discoveries showing the involvement of different brain systems in drug abuse addiction—beyond the dopamine/reward system—NIDA's medications development program is pursuing a variety of emerging targets and treatment approaches. Examples include medications to diminish conditioned responses, promote new learning, and inhibit stress-induced relapse. Another innovative strategy in which NIDA is investing is "vaccines." immunotherapy, or for methamphetamine, cocaine, and nicotine dependence. the latter in Stage III efficacy trials. Addiction immunotherapy causes the body to generate antibodies that bind to specific drugs while they are still in the bloodstream, blocking their entry into the brain. Such approaches have great potential to help people remain abstinent and avoid relapse once they are in treatment.

Methamphetamines still menace. Methamphetamine continues to afflict communities across the country, showing marked increases in consequences and rising treatment admissions—from ~ 48,000 to >150,000 a year (http://www.oas.samhsa.gov/teds2k5/TEDSHi2k5Tb *lla.htm*) over the last decade. NIDA is pursuing several different therapeutic approaches, including both medications and behavioral therapies aimed at abstinence, relapse prevention, and cognitive dysfunction caused by long-term abuse. NIDAsupported research to understand the mechanisms of methamphetamine-induced brain changes will be instrumental in identifying potential target molecules that can be either blocked or enhanced to prevent, or mitigate the damage caused methamphetamine. In addition, NIDA is supporting the development of a methamphetamine vaccine as an alternative strategy for treating addiction, as described in the discussion of promising new targets for anti-addiction medications above. Through a FY 2007 RFA, NIDA is soliciting studies to generate the

¹ This category includes amphetamines, sedatives/barbiturates, tranquilizers, and opiates other than heroin.

data needed to submit an Investigational New Drug (IND) application to the Food and Drug Administration for Phase I clinical trials of candidate vaccines for methamphetamine addiction.

Prescription opioid abuse and the role of pain. Prescription drug abuse continues to be a problem, with prescription painkillers the most widely abused medications. NIDA's multi-pronged encompasses epidemiological studies and basic and clinical research, including research on the development of therapeutic agents for pain with reduced abuse liability. NIDA also continues to encourage research that assesses the effects of chronic use of pain medications over the lifespan and elucidates those factors (genetic, biological, and environmental) that predispose patients to, or protect them from, opioid abuse and addiction. Examining these factors will help develop screening and diagnostic tools for primary care physicians to assess the potential for prescription drug abuse in their patients. In this vein, NIDA—in collaboration with the NIH Pain Consortium and the American Medical Association—held its first-ever public meeting on various issues surrounding opiate pain relievers and their potential for addiction.

The evolving HIV/AIDS epidemic. Drug abuse continues to be a major vector for the spread of HIV/AIDS through its connection with other risky behaviors, such as needle sharing and unprotected sex. NIDA research has advanced the less acknowledged link between drug abuse in general and the resulting impaired judgment that can lead to risky sexual behavior and HIV transmissionhighlighting the value of drug abuse treatment in preventing HIV spread. NIDA will continue to support primary prevention research to find the most effective HIV risk-reduction interventions for different populations. Young people are a major focus for these efforts, calling for strategies that start early and can adapt with age. NIDA is also supporting research to develop effective secondary prevention strategies designed to reduce HIV transmission.

Fiscal Year 2009 Funding Recommendations

for the

National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA)

National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA)

The National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) supports and conducts biomedical and behavioral research on the causes, consequences, treatment, and prevention of alcoholism and alcohol-related problems. NIAAA also provides leadership in the national effort to reduce the severe and often fatal consequences of these problems by:

- Conducting and supporting research directed at determining the causes of alcoholism, discovering how alcohol damages the organs of the body, and developing prevention and treatment strategies for application in the Nation's health care system;
- Supporting and conducting research across a wide range of scientific areas including genetics, neuroscience, medical consequences, medications development, prevention, and treatment through the award of grants and within the NIAAA's intramural research program;
- Conducting policy studies that have broad implications for alcohol problem prevention, treatment and rehabilitation activities;
- Conducting epidemiological studies such as national and community surveys to assess risks for and the magnitude of alcohol-related problems among various population groups;
- Collaborating with other research institutes in this country and abroad -- and Federal programs relevant to alcohol abuse and alcoholism, and providing coordination for Federal alcohol abuse and alcohol research activities; and
- Disseminating research findings to health care providers, researchers, policymakers, and the public.

National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA)

Director: Ting-Kai Li, MD (301) 443-3885

Public Liaison Officer: Fred Donedeo (301) 443-6370

National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA)

FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009
\$436.3m	\$436.3m	\$437.0m	\$465.5m

Background

The National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) is the lead Federal entity for biomedical and behavioral research focused on uncovering the causes and improving prevention and treatment of alcohol abuse, alcoholism and other health effects of alcohol. NIAAA funds 90 percent of all alcohol research in the United States. This research is designed to reduce the enormous health, social, and economic consequences caused by excessive drinking. Over 18 million Americans meet the criteria for a diagnosis of alcohol abuse or dependence (alcoholism), and 40 percent of Americans have direct family experience with alcohol abuse. Annually, 75,000 deaths are attributable to alcohol, and excessive alcohol consumption is the third leading preventable cause of death in the U.S.

Alcohol remains the most commonly abused drug by youth and adults alike in the United States. The financial burden from alcohol abuse and alcoholism on our nation is estimated at \$185 billion annually. More than 70 percent of the cost borne by society relates to the enormous losses to productivity due to alcohol related illnesses and the loss of earnings resulting from premature deaths. Up to 40 percent, or almost half, of patients in urban hospital beds are there for treatment of conditions caused or exacerbated by alcohol including diseases of the brain, liver, certain cancers, and trauma caused by accidents and violence.

Injuries are the leading cause of death among people ages 1-44 in the U.S., and alcohol is the leading contributor to injury deaths - over 40,000 injury deaths annually are attributable to alcohol. Almost 30 percent of victims of violent crime report the offender had been drinking, and two-thirds of victims who suffered violence by an intimate (a current or former spouse, boyfriend, or girlfriend) reported that alcohol had been a factor. The severe impact of alcohol on juvenile populations has been well documented. Alcohol-related traffic crashes are the leading cause of teen deaths.

Alcohol is also involved in homicides and suicides, the second and third leading causes of teen deaths, respectively. Because injury deaths most often occur among young people, alcohol attributable injury deaths

account for twice the number of preventable years of lost life as chronic disease alcohol attributable deaths, which by itself is substantial.

Additional investments are required to pursue a number of key NIAAA initiatives including:

- Efforts to accelerate discoveries on nerve cell networks and their application to clinical issues surrounding tolerance, physical dependence, physical withdrawal and relapse, by integrating the efforts and findings of investigators from various scientific fields and disciplines;
- New technologies to advance identification of the genes likely to influence the risk for alcoholism, and advancing discovery of new behavioral treatments and medications development; and
- Acquiring scientific expertise in the areas of novel biosensors for the measurement of alcohol, computational neurobiology of alcohol, and geomapping to improve policies surrounding alcohol prevention. Of equal importance is NIAAA's agenda on health disparities and conducting research on high alcohol content malt and wine specialty consumption and its health and social impacts on minority communities. The initiatives targeted at underage drinking also require additional attention for epidemiological studies and evaluation of intervention and outreach programs on college campuses.
- Longitudinal studies to: expand our understanding of alcohol effects on the developing adolescent brain; determine how alcohol use affects development of co-morbid disorders and how other disorders affect the emergence and progression of alcohol use disorders;
- Acceleration of medications development for treatment of alcoholism. More specifically, the development of promising compounds to treat alcohol dependence, including compounds that reduce the number or duration of heavy drinking occasions, and those that can be used for individuals who are not abstinent at the start of treatment;

- Expanding research to understand how individuals change their harmful drinking behaviors either in the presence or absence of treatment;
- Understanding the neural basis for the transition from drinking to compulsive drinking.

NIAAA ADVANCES

Finding May Explain Link between Alcohol & Certain Cancers

Initiative on Underage Drinking

Underage drinking presents an enormous public health concern. Alcohol is the drug of choice among children and adolescents. Annually, about 5,000 youth under age 21 die from motor vehicle crashes, other unintentional injuries, and homicides and suicides that involve underage drinking. As the lead Federal agency for supporting and conducting basic and applied research on alcohol problems, NIAAA is spearheading this initiative to intensify research, evaluation, and outreach efforts regarding underage drinking, using a developmental approach. Using such a framework will make us more effective in preventing and reducing underage alcohol use and its associated problems. In response to NIAAA findings of the high prevalence of alcohol dependence in young adults, the extensive binge drinking among adolescents, and the serious consequences that result, the Surgeon General issued a Call to Action To Prevent and Reduce Underage Drinking. This concise report offers a comprehensive view of underage drinking and its consequences within a developmental framework. NIAAA provided the scientific foundation for the Call to Action, a collaborative effort of the Office of the Surgeon General, NIAAA, and the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. Given the high rates of drinking (especially binge drinking) among adolescents, coincident with significant developmental changes in the brain and nervous system, it is critical to better understand the impact of alcohol exposure on the developing brain. NIAAA recently funded 2 research initiatives to address this issue. One initiative is aimed at increasing our understanding about the short- and long-term effects of child and adolescent alcohol consumption on the developing brain. Another initiative is focused on understanding the effects of alcohol and pubertal hormones on brain development and on differences in drinking patterns and vulnerabilities between boys and girls.

The Impact of Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral for Treatment on Emergency Department Patients' Alcohol Use

Previous studies of screening, brief intervention, and referral conducted in primary care and in-patient trauma centers have shown positive outcomes in decreasing or eliminating alcohol use, reducing injury rates, and reducing costs to society. A recent 14 site nationwide study found that hospital emergency departments are also useful settings for asking patients about their alcohol use and advising heavy drinkers to reduce their drinking. In the study, emergency patients who received a brief intervention reported lower rates of risky drinking at a 3-month follow-up than did those who received only written information about reducing their drinking. At 3-month follow-up, more than one third of patients who had been identified as drinking above the low risk limits set by NIAAA (4 drinks per day for men and 3 drinks per day for women; and not more than 14 drinks per week for men, and 7 drinks per week for women), but who did not screen for a more serious alcohol diagnosis (abuse or dependence), no longer exceeded the limits, compared with less than one fifth of patients in the control group. Further studies are analyzing data from these patients at 6 and 12 month follow-up points. The results of this study should provide the impetus for broader implementation of screening, brief intervention, and referral for treatment in the emergency department setting and raises the prospect of reaching many individuals whose problematic alcohol use might otherwise go untreated. The results of this study were published in the December 2007 issue of the Annals of Emergency Medicine.

Helping Patients Who Drink Too Much: A Clinician's Guide

NIAAA released a new guide for health care practitioners to help them identify and care for patients with heavy drinking and alcohol use disorders entitled Helping Patients Who Drink Too Much: A Clinician's Guide.

About 3 in 10 U.S. adults drink at levels that increase their risk for physical, mental health, and social problems. Of these heavy drinkers, about 1 in 4 currently has alcohol abuse or dependence. Although relatively common, these alcohol use disorders often go undetected in medical and mental health care settings. When effective methods are used for alcohol screening and brief interventions, however, research shows they can promote significant, lasting reductions in drinking levels and alcohol-related problems.

The 2005 edition of the Guide, updated in 2007, provides a user-friendly research-based approach to screening, diagnosing, and managing patients with heavy drinking and alcohol use disorders for both primary care and mental health clinicians. Alcohol screening is simplified to a single question about heavy drinking days. If a patient drinks heavily (5 or more drinks in a day for men or 4 or more for women), the Guide shows how to assess for symptoms of alcohol abuse or dependence. Whether the patient has an alcohol use disorder or is a heavy, at-risk drinker, the Guide offers streamlined, step-by-step guidance for conducting brief interventions and managing patient care. The updated Guide offers several new resources including online training with CME/CE credits, support for medication-based therapy in non-specialty settings, a new handout with strategies to help patients reduce or quit drinking, a new dedicated Web page devoted to the Guide and supporting resources for clinicians and patients, and an updated PowerPoint presentation for educators and instructors.

Finding May Explain Link between Alcohol & Certain Cancers

Drinking alcoholic beverages has been linked to an increased risk of upper gastrointestinal cancer and other types of cancer. Researchers looking for the potential biochemical basis for this link have focused on acetaldehyde, a suspected carcinogen formed as the body metabolizes alcohol. Scientists from the NIAAA and the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) report that polyamines - natural compounds essential for cell growth - react with acetaldehyde to trigger a series of reactions that damage DNA, an event that can lead to the formation of cancer. Acetaldehyde's role in the carcinogenicity of alcohol beverage consumption had been suspected, but this study led to important breakthroughs regarding its This work provides an important involvement. framework for understanding the underlying chemical pathway that could explain the association between drinking and certain types of cancer.

SAMHSA Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant (SAPT), and Centers for Substance Abuse Prevention (CSAP) and Treatment (CSAT)

CSAT Block Grant				
FY 2007	FY 2008	ADMINISTRATION	MHLG	
CR	OMNIBUS	REQUEST	RECOMMENDATION	
CK	OMINIBUS	FY 2009	FY 2009	
\$1,758.6m	\$1,758.7m	\$1,778.6m	\$1,858.7m	

CSAT Programs of Regional and National Significance				
FY 2007 CR	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION REQUEST FY 2009	MHLG RECOMMENDATION FY 2009	
\$399.0m	\$399.8m	\$336.8m	\$420.0m	

	CSAP Programs of Regional and National Significance									
	FY 2007	FY 2008 OMNIBUS	ADMINISTRATION	MHLG						
	CR		REQUEST	RECOMMENDATION						
	CK		FY 2009	FY 2009						
	\$193.0m	\$194.1m	\$158.0m	\$215.06m						

SAMHSA Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment (SAPT) Block Grant

What is the Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment (SAPT) Block Grant?

The Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment (SAPT) Block Grant Program distributes funds to 60 eligible States, Territories, the District of Columbia and the Red Lake Indian Tribe of Minnesota through a formula, based upon specified economic and demographic factors. The SAPT Block Grant is the cornerstone of the nation's drug and alcohol prevention and treatment system, providing roughly half of all public funding for treatment services. The current law includes specific provisions and funding set-asides, such as a 20 percent prevention set-aside; HIV/AIDS early intervention requirements and potential reduction of the Block Grant allotment with respect to sale of tobacco products to those under the age of 18; a maintenance of effort requirement; and provisions that limit fluctuations in allotments as the total appropriation changes from year to year.

Why is the Block Grant Important?

In 2004, the Block Grant accounted for approximately 40 percent of public funds expended by states for prevention and treatment. Twenty two States and Territories reported that greater than 50 percent of their substance abuse prevention and treatment programs came from the Federal Block Grant. Thirteen States and Territories reported Block

Grant funding at greater than 60 percent of the total spent, while seven States and Territories reported over 70 percent. Over 10,500 community-based organizations receive Block Grant funding from the States. In FY 2004, approximately 1.9 million individuals were served.

What Justifies Federal Spending for the SAPT Block Grant?

The Costs of Untreated Addiction are Staggering: According to the National Institute on Drug Abuse, misuse and addiction to alcohol, nicotine, and illegal substances cost Americans upwards of half a trillion dollars a year, considering their combined medical, economic, criminal, and social impact. Every year, abuse of illicit drugs and alcohol contributes to the death of more than 100,000 Americans, while tobacco is linked to an estimated 440,000 deaths per year. Substance abuse and addiction are the costliest and most prevalent of brain maladies, surpassing Alzheimer's, depression, spinal cord injury, and other developmental disorders, according to a recent analysis in the Archives of General Psychiatry.

People with substance use disorders rely on public sources of financing to a much greater extent than people with other diseases². Unfortunately, the overall amount of funding that is invested in

_

² National Expenditures for Mental Health Services and Substance Abuse Treatment 1991–2001

addiction treatment pales in comparison to the costs; an estimated \$18 billion was devoted to treatment of substance use disorders in 2001, only 1.3 percent of all health care spending. The SAPT block grant, the main source of federal addiction prevention and treatment funding, is approximately \$1.8 billion and has been cut by approximately \$20 million over the last four years. Federal support is critical due in large part to the fact that over the last ten years public payers have taken on more responsibility for addiction treatment expenditures, increasing from 62 percent in 1991 to 76 percent in 2001.

The current treatment gap is significant and can be explained, in part, by a shortage of affordable treatment services. In 2006, 23.6 million persons aged 12 or older needed treatment for an illicit drug or alcohol use problem (9.6 percent of the persons aged 12 or older) but only 2.5 million (10.8 percent) received treatment in a specialty facility. Thus, 21.1 million persons (8.6 percent of the population aged 12 or older) needed treatment for an illicit drug or alcohol use problem but did not receive it in the past year. Based on 2004-2006 combined data, among those individuals who made an effort to receive treatment the most often reported reason for not receiving treatment was not having health insurance and not being able to afford the cost (36.3 percent).

SAMHSA's Centers for Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment

In SAMHSA's Centers for Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment there are two program categories within the Programs for Regional and National Significance: Capacity and Science to Service. The first category supports SAMHSA's Capacity goal, and includes services programs, which provide funding to implement a service improvement using proven evidence-based approaches, and infrastructure programs, which identify and implement needed systems changes. The second category supports SAMHSA's Effectiveness goal, and includes programs that promote the identification and increase the availability of practices thought to have potential for broad service improvement.

Center for Substance Abuse Prevention (CSAP) Current research shows that evidence-based substance abuse prevention is effective in preventing youth from initiating substance use and in reducing the number of individuals who become dependent. The 2006 Monitoring the Future survey of eighth, tenth, and twelfth graders showed gradually declining

rates of students reporting use of any illicit drug in the past 12 months.

The mission of the Center for Substance Abuse Prevention (CSAP) is to bring effective substance abuse prevention to every community through the Strategic Prevention Framework, which incorporates SAMHSA's goals of Accountability, Capacity, and Effectiveness. CSAP works with States and communities to develop comprehensive prevention systems that create healthy communities in which people enjoy a quality life. This includes supportive work and school environments, drug- and crime-free neighborhoods, and positive connections with friends and family.

CSAP administers two major programs: Programs of Regional and National Significance (PRNS), and the 20 percent Prevention Set-aside of the Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment (SAPT) Block Grant.

Additional CSAP Prevention Activities

Preventing and Reducing Underage Drinking

In collaboration with the Interagency Coordinating Committee on The Prevention of Underage Drinking (ICCPUD), established by the Sober Truth on Preventing (STOP) Underage Drinking Act, SAMHSA continues to coordinate efforts to address the problem of underage drinking through the use of evidence-based strategies.

The Drug Free Communities (DFC) Program

The Drug Free Communities (DFC) program now supports over 700 drug-free community coalitions across the United States. This anti-drug program provides grants of up to \$100,000 to community coalitions that mobilize their communities to prevent youth alcohol, tobacco, illicit drug, and inhalant abuse. The grants support coalitions of youth; parents; media; law enforcement; school officials; faith-based organizations; fraternal organizations; State, local, and tribal government agencies; healthcare professionals; and other community representatives.

The Primary Prevention Component of the SAPT Block Grant

As required by legislation, 20 percent of Block Grant funds allocated to States through the SAPT Block

Grant formula must be spent on substance abuse primary prevention services. Prevention service funding varies significantly from State to State. Some States rely solely on the Block Grant's 20 percent setaside to fund their prevention systems; others use the funds to target gaps and enhance existing program efforts. CSAP requires under regulation that the States use their Block Grant funds to support a range of prevention services and activities in six key areas to ensure that each State offers a comprehensive system for preventing substance abuse. The six areas are information dissemination, community-based environmental strategies, alternative process, activities, education, and problem identification and referral.

Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (CSAT)

The mission of the Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (CSAT) is to improve the health of the nation by bringing effective alcohol and drug treatment to every community. CSAT's primary objectives are to increase the availability of clinical treatment and recovery support services; to improve and strengthen substance use disorder clinical treatment and recovery support organizations and systems; to transfer knowledge gained from research into evidence-based practices; and to provide regulatory monitoring and oversight of SAMHSAcertified Opioid Treatment Programs. CSAT works with States and community-based groups to improve and expand existing substance use disorder treatment services under the Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant Program. CSAT also supports SAMHSA's free treatment referral service to link people with the community-based substance use disorder treatment services they need.

CSAT's Programs of Regional and National Significance:

Targeted Capacity Expansion (TCE) Program

Introduced by CSAT in 1998 to help communities to bridge gaps in treatment services, in general, TCE funding supports grants to units of State and local governments and tribal entities to expand or enhance a community's ability to provide a rapid, strategic, comprehensive, integrated, creative, community-based response to a specific, well documented substance use disorder treatment capacity problem, including technical assistance. The TCE programs include:

SBIRT: Screening, Brief Intervention, Referral and Treatment

Initiated in 2003, SBIRT uses cooperative agreements to expand and enhance the State or tribal organization continuum of care by adding Screening, Brief Intervention, Referral and Treatment service within general medical settings and by providing consistent linkages with the specialty treatment system. The SBIRT Initiative targets those with nondependent substance use and provides effective strategies for intervention prior to the need for more extensive or specialized treatment. The Initiative involves implementation of a system within community and/or medical settings—including physician offices, hospitals, educational institutions, and mental health centers—that screens for and identifies individuals with or at-risk for substance use-related problems.

Recovery Community Services Program (RCSP)

RCSP grant projects design and deliver peer-to-peer recovery support services to help individuals in their communities initiate and sustain recovery and gain overall wellness. Peer support services are not treatment or post-treatment services provided by professionals, but rather support services from people who share the experiences of addiction and recovery. They are designed to promote a sense of self-worth, community connectedness, and quality of life—all important factors in sustaining recovery from alcohol and drug use disorders

Criminal Justice Activities

To help States break the pattern of incarceration and reduce the high rate of recidivism, SAMHSA's Criminal Justice Activities include grant programs which focus on diversion and reentry for adolescents, teens and adults with substance use and mental disorders.

Addiction Technology Transfer Centers

An accompanying regional technical assistance system including 14 Addiction Technology Transfer Centers (ATTC's) created to build capacity at the State and program level to provide the highest quality treatment services. The ATTC network focuses on six areas of emphasis to improve treatment services:

- Enhancing Cultural Appropriateness
- Developing & Disseminating Tools
- Building a Better Workforce
- Advancing Knowledge Adoption
- Ongoing Assessment & Improvement
- Forging Partnerships

Mental Health Liaison Group (MHLG) FY 2009 Appropriations Recommendations for the SAMHSA and Key NIH Institutions

		11	•	3 4 1	1.
- (100	Harc	1n	N/I 1 I	lions)
١,	וטע	паго	111	1111	попът

PROGRAMS	FY 07 FINAL	FY08 FINAL	FY09 ADMIN REQUEST	FY09 MHLG REQUEST
CMHS				
CMHS TOTAL	\$883.9m	\$910.9m	\$784.3m	\$1044.8m
	(\$0.0m)	(+\$27.0m)	(-\$126.6m)	(+\$133.9m)
Community Mental Health Services Performance Partnership Block Grant Children's Mental Health Services	\$428.3m	\$421.0m	\$421.8m	\$482.9m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$7.3m)	(\$0.0m)	(+\$61.9m)
	\$104.1m	\$102.3m	\$114.5m	\$117.3m
PATH Homelessness Program	(\$0.0m)	(-\$1.8m)	(+\$12.2m)	(+\$15.0m)
	\$54.3m	\$53.3m	\$59.7m	\$61.1m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$1.0m)	(+\$6.4m)	(+\$7.8m)
Protection and Advocacy (PAIMI)	\$34.0m	\$34.9m	\$34.0m	\$40.0m
	(\$0.0m)	(+\$0.9m)	(-\$0.9m)	(+\$5.1m)
Programs of Regional and National	\$263.3m	\$299.3m	\$155.3m	\$343.3m
Significance	(\$0.0m)	(+\$36.0m)	(-\$144.0m)	(+\$44.0m)
Youth Violence Prevention	\$93.3m	\$93.5m	\$75.7m	\$107.2m
	(\$0.0m)	(+\$0.2m)	(-\$17.8m)	(+\$13.7m)
Suicide Prevention	\$36.1m	\$48.6m	\$33.5m	\$55.7m
	(+\$1.4m)	(+\$12.4m)	(-\$15.1m)	(+\$7.1m)
Post Traumatic Stress Disorder	\$29.5m	\$33.1m	\$15.6m	\$38.0m
	(\$0.0m)	(+\$3.6m)	(-\$17.5m)	(+\$4.9m)
State Incentive Grant	\$26.0m	\$26.0m	\$0.0m	\$29.8m
	(\$0.0m)	(\$0.0m)	(-\$26.0m)	(+\$3.8m)
Jail Diversion Grants	\$6.93m	\$6.80m	\$3.90m	\$7.80m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$0.13m)	(-\$2.90m)	(+\$1.0m)
Seniors	\$4.95m	\$4.86m	\$0.0m	\$5.60m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$0.09m)	(-\$4.86m)	(+\$0.74m)
Community Technical Assistance Centers	\$1.98m	\$1.95m	\$0.0m	\$2.24m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$0.03m)	(-\$1.95m)	(+\$0.29m)
Consumer Network Grants	\$1.50m	\$1.47m	\$0.0m	\$1.69m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$0.03m)	(-\$1.47m)	(+\$0.22m)
Family Network Grants	\$3.40m	\$3.34m	\$0.0m	\$3.83m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$0.06m)	(-\$3.34m)	(+\$0.49m)
Minority Workforce Training CSAT	\$3.8m	\$3.73m	\$0.0m	\$4.28m
	(\$0.0m)	(-\$0.07m)	(-\$3.73m)	(+\$0.55m)
Block Grant	\$1,758.6m	\$1,758.7m	\$1,778.6m	\$1,858.7m
	(\$0.0m)	(+\$0.1m)	(+\$20.0m)	(+\$100.0m)
Programs of Regional and National Significance	\$399.0m	\$399.8m	\$336.8m	\$420.0m
	(-\$0.1m)	(+\$0.8m)	(-\$63.0m)	(+\$20.2m)
CSAP Programs of Regional and National	\$193.0m	\$194.1m	\$158.0m	\$215.0m
Significance NIH	(+\$0.1m)	(+\$1.1m)	(-\$36.1m)	(+\$20.9m)
NIMH	\$1,403.6m	\$1,404.5m	\$1,407.0m	\$1,498.6m
	(+\$0.1m)	(+\$0.9m)	(+\$2.5m)	(+\$94.1m)
NIDA	\$1,000.3m	\$1,000.7m	\$1,002.0m	\$1,067.7m
	(+\$0.3m)	(+\$0.4m)	(+\$1.3m)	(+\$67.0m)
NIAAA	\$436.3m	\$436.3m	\$437.0m	\$465.5m
	(+\$0.4m)	(0.0m)	(+\$0.7m)	(+\$29.2m)